

Lund University Department of Sociology BIDS

"We have to adapt and find the best solution for this context."

A Comparative Case Study of the Patterns of Success in two Swedish Technical Assistance Projects with Kenyan Government Agencies

Author: Lennart Weitzel Bachelor Thesis: UTKV03 15 hp Spring Semester 2022 Supervisor: Axel Fredholm

Abstract

Technical assistance to public sector organisations is a much-debated topic and showcases a considerable size in contemporary international development assistance. Yet, the empirical evidence base on which factors contribute to the outcomes of projects within this field is surprisingly slim and diffuse. Particularly, the mechanisms through which different factors affect project outcomes remains understudied. This study aims to contribute to this research gap analyse which factors can be associated to successful project outcomes in two selected TA projects. Additionally, it seeks to uncover mechanisms through which the different factors have affected the performance of the projects. The analysed cases are two Swedish TA projects implemented at Kenyan governmental agencies between 2010 and 2020. The research design followed a comparative case study framework, using empirical data collected through semistructured interviews and project-related documents. Employing an abductive analysis strategy, codes and themes were identified within the empirical material, indicating possible explanatory factors, which were subsequently substantiated through key arguments and concepts of Problem-driven Iterative Adaptation. Three main factors were found to have led to successful project outcomes: the projects engaged in collaborative processes of demand-driven and context-sensitive problem definition; the project designs were based on a holistic conceptualisation of the targeted problem and its root causes; both projects became more successful concerning relevance, impact, and effectiveness once they employed an adaptive and contextually responsive strategy for project implementation. As such, the results are line with the conclusions of previous studies, whilst additionally contributing with a detailed analysis of the mechanisms through which the factors affect the project outcomes.

Key words: Technical Assistance; Capacity Development; Project Outcomes; Public Sector; Problem-driven Iterative Adaptation; Sweden; Kenya

Acknowledgements

Conducting this research project has truly been a journey with much joy, excitement, and growth but also experiences of difficulty, uncertainty, and confusion. I was fortunate enough to have many wonderful people around me who supported me through this process with guidance, advise, and a great deal of kindness. I would like to express my immense appreciation for being by my side.

I want to start with my supervisor Axel who has put great trust in my abilities and strengthened my believe in the choices I made during the research process on several occasions. Thank you for having been available to answer all my questions.

Next, to my colleagues at The Better Governance Project: Otto, Jamie, Camila, and Amelie. My time with you has introduced me to an extremely exciting world and it was you who inspired me to pursue this research topic. You deserve my uttermost gratitude for your friendship and the time I was fortunate enough to spend with you.

And finally, to my favourite studying partner Astrid, who shared this journey with me every step of the way, lit up my days, and kept me the best company I could ever wish for.

I also want to thank all interviewees for taking their time to meet with me and provide me with their experiences and insight.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	5
List of Figures	5
List of Abbreviations	6
1. Introduction	7
2. Research Aim	9
2.1 Delimitations	9
2.2 Disposition	10
3. Literature Review	11
3.1 Factors related Project Inception and Design	12
3.2 Factors related to Project Implementation	12
3.3 Factors related to Project Inputs	13
4. Theoretical Framework	14
4.1 Key terms and Concepts	14
4.1.1 Technical Assistance	14
4.1.2 Technical Assistance Project	14
4.2 Outcome Dimensions	16
4.3 Problem-driven Iterative Adaptation	18
4.3.1 Project Design and Implementation with PDIA	18
4.3.2 PDIA's Approach to the Management of Relationships with Stakeholders	20
5. Methods	22
5.1 Research Design	22
5.1.1 Generalisability of Results	22
5.2 Data Collection	22
5.2.1 Interviews	23
5.2.2 Documents	24
5.3 Data Analysis	24
5.3.1 Description of the projects	25
5.3.2 Evaluation of the Outcome Dimensions	25
5.3.3 Investigation of Outcome-determining Factors	25
5.4 Limitations	26
5.4.1 Limitations of the Data Collection Methods	26
5.4.4 Limitations to Data Analysis	27
5.5 Ethical Considerations	

6. Background
6.1 Public Sector Governance and Development Assistance in Kenya
6.2 Swedish Development Cooperation in Kenya
6.2.1 Cooperation between KNBS and SCB Statistics Sweden31
6.2.2 Cooperation between KRA and STA
7. Results
7.1 Evaluation of the Project Outcomes
7.1.1 Relevance
7.1.2 Effectiveness
7.1.3 Efficiency
7.1.4 Impact
7.1.5 Sustainability
7.2 Factors explaining the Project Outcomes
7.2.1 Establishing a Problem Definition which reflects Local Experiences
7.2.2 Project Design based on Holistic Conceptualisations of the Problem and Context
7.2.3 Pursuing an Adaptive and Responsive Strategy for Project Implementation42
8. Concluding Discussion
9. References
Appendix A: List of Interviewees
Appendix B: Interview Guide
Appendix C: Summary Table of the analysed TA Projects
Appendix D: Summary of Project Outcomes
Appendix E: Worldwide Governance Indicators (WGI) Kenya

List of Tables

le 1: Project Evaluation Matrix17

List of Figures

Figure 1: Recipient Countries of Swedish ODA (sum of annual transactions)	10
Figure 2: Conceptual Model of a Technical Assistance Project	15
Figure 3: Kenya - Net official development assistance and official aid received	29

List of Abbreviations

CD	-	Capacity Development
Danida	-	Danish International Development Agency
DFID	-	Department for International Development
DWBI	-	Data Warehouse and Business Intelligence
GoK	-	Government of Kenya
ICT	-	Information and Communications Technology
KNBS	-	Kenya National Bureau of Statistics
KRA	-	Kenya Revenue Authority
LTA	-	Long-term Advisor
MFAS	-	Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Sweden
OECD	-	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OECD DAC	-	OECD Development Assistance Committee
ODA	-	Official Development Assistance
SCB	-	SCB Statistics Sweden
Sida	-	Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency
STA	-	Swedish Tax Agency
ТА	-	Technical Assistance

1. Introduction

A core questions of the development agenda as a practice of bi- and multilateral cooperation, whilst discussing different societal issues, has always been about the role of states and the public sector. The latter can be defined as "a totality of institutions, which are supported from the State and municipal budgets, and it provides public goods, which are not under any competition, and which [are] accessible to any individual" (Balaboniené & Večerskienė, 2015, p.315). To be sure, the role of the latter has been conceptualised differently in the various strands of development thinking throughout the decades. When international development assistance was first "formalised" in multilateral institutions such as the UN and the Bretton Woods organisations in the aftermath of World War 2, Western donors focussed on promoting economic growth and foreign investment in low- and middle-income countries, whereby state capacity was seen as a critical premise (Denney et al., 2017, p.5-6).

After the neoliberal agenda of "rolling back the state", the development community paid increasing attention to issues of corruption, governmental accountability, public sector management, and others (Carothers & de Gramont, 2011, p.3) under the *good governance* paradigm which emerged during the 1990s. The underlying assumption was that interventions addressing issues of governance would inspire a far-reaching, self-sustaining high standard of living to their citizens. This also implied a growing emphasis on local ownership and stakeholder involvement in development project (Denney et al., 2017, pp.6-7; Carothers & de Gramont, 2011, p.1).

However, critics of the dominant development paradigms lament that the focus remained on the transfer of "best practice" solutions based on the experiences and standards of Western countries, notwithstanding the increasing use of language of ownership, bottom-up process, and endogenous development (e.g., Cox & Norrington-Davies, 2019; Bazbauers, 2017; Denney et al., 2017). Consequently, a new generation of theories and approaches conceptualising development assistance to public sectors has emerged, which are commonly referred to by the umbrella term *Doing Development Differently* (DDD) (DDD Manifesto, 2014).

Practically, development assistance to public sectors has commonly taken the form of technical assistance (TA), defined in this study as efforts to enhance the capacity of a recipient partner through the transfer of skills, knowledge, resources, and technology by an external partner (see section 4.1.1). Initially, this was a symptom of the "temptation of the technical" (Carothers &

de Gramont, 2011, p.5); meaning, the assumption that the quality of governance systems could be improved by the singular transfer of specific expertise or technology. However, as Nastase et al. (2021, p.4) illustrate, the conceptualisation of TA has evolved in parallel to changes in the discourse since its emergence some 70 years ago. The authors demonstrate this evolution from its focus on developing individual competencies to encompassing principles of being sensitive to contextual dynamics, systemic complexity, and procedural issues.

As a result of the state re-entering development theories, TA to public sector reforms blossomed since the 1990s, becoming one of the foremost types of support to low- and middle-income countries (Andrews, 2013; Carothers & de Gramont, 2011, p.18). Some estimates suggest that approximately one quarter of all annual global aid is spent on TA (Denney et al., 2017, p.v; Greenhill et al., 2006, p.11). Whilst the validity of this exact number can be questioned, the suggested magnitude of TA is supported by other key facts. For instance, scholars estimate that the number of World Bank projects which at least partially included public sector reforms have increased from 469 in the 1980s to 3,325 in the 2000s (Andrews, 2013). Furthermore, in 2011, 11% of World Bank loans were allocated to support government institutions and the rule of law (Carothers & de Gramont, 2011, p.4). The IMF reports that CD to economic institutions such as finance ministries and tax authorities represents about a third of its transactions (IMF, 2021).

Despite the magnitude of TA and the extensive theoretical debates on development assistance to public sector organisations, the evidence base on what makes these TA projects¹ successful is considerably slim and diffuse, even though it is possible to detect an emerging area of research (Hudson & Marquette, 2015; Nastase et al., 2020; Denney et al., 2015; Carothers & de Gramont, 2011). This is surprising as robust empirical information about when, how, and why TA projects with public sector organisations lead to meaningful and sustained change would be highly relevant to development practitioners, donor organisations, and the scholarly debates on development theory.

¹ International development cooperation is often categorised using different terms, such as project and programme, all of which will be referred to as a project within the scope of this study.

2. Research Aim

Considering the need for substance in the literature, the goal of this study is to contribute to the recent interest in the empirical investigation of the factors which determine the impact and outcomes of TA projects at public sector organisation. By conducting a comparative case study of two TA projects at Kenyan governmental agencies, the study aims to understand the mechanisms through which different factors have affected the performance of the selected projects. Hence, the study poses the following research questions:

- 1. What factors associated to technical assistance projects, which are implemented at public sector organisations, can be said to contribute to successful project outcomes?
- 2. What mechanisms of influence can be identified to explain the effects of these factors on the project outcomes?

2.1 Delimitations

Given the large scale of possible approaches to investigating these questions, it is necessary to stipulate certain delimitations to render them operational. The most relevant consideration concerns the case selection, as this is an essential precondition for a comparative case study. The following were the parameters which informed the choices of cases which have been analysed in this study.

First, bilateral Swedish ODA is the source of funding for the projects. Sweden was chosen since it is an engaged actor within the international development arena. As the OECD (2020) reported, Swedish ODA represented 0.99% of domestic GNI in 2019, which makes it one of the most committed donors by this measure.

Second, the projects are subsumed under Sida's CD strategy, as CD represents a recognised form of TA (see section 4.1.1).

Third, the project timeframe was set between 2010 and 2020, since it is assumed that the outcomes of a project might take time to materialise. Thus, choosing projects which were implemented several years ago might be beneficial, as they hypothetically are more likely to have produced noticeable results. Conversely, excluding projects from earlier than 2010 might be warranted assuming that it might be more difficult to collect valid and reliable data for projects from that time, particularly when conducting interviews.



Figure 1: Recipient Countries of Swedish ODA (sum of annual transactions)

Based on the author's own calculations; Data: Open Aid, 2022

Forth, Kenyan national government agencies were chosen as recipients based on the following reasoning. Kenya has received the seventh-largest amount of Swedish ODA between 2010 and 2020, totalling 730.32 million USD (see Figure 1). Furthermore, out of the pool of public sector organisations, national government agencies were chosen to ensure a high degree of similarity between both cases.

This sampling strategy resulted in a list of projects taken from Sida's Open Aid website which could serve as suitable cases for study. Given the scope of this thesis, it was most realistic to analyse two cases. For the same reason, the final decision of projects was determined by with which project team was successfully contacted.

2.2 Disposition

This study is structured in the following way. First, in the following section, the current literature is introduced by summarising the most important theories on and approaches to development practice, as well as previous findings on which factors influence the outcomes of TA projects. Thereafter, I define key terms and concepts and introduce PDIA as the theoretical framework for understanding the mechanisms through which the identified factors have

affected the project outcomes in the investigated cases (section 4). Section 5 will provide a discussion of the methods for data collection and analysis, which were used in this study, before the TA projects, which were selected for analysis, and the broader context in Kenya are summarised (section 6). Lastly, section 7 details the main findings from the analysis process.

3. Literature Review

There is a broad array of literature which presents arguments on how development assistance in general and to the public sector *should* look like. Whilst it is not possible to provide an exhaustive list here, it is worth introducing some of the most prominent conventional and contemporary contributions.

As for the development orthodoxy, whilst not uniform in design, Andrews (2013) provides an illustrative summary of common claims and arguments in a model which he calls solution and leader-driven change. As this model suggests, orthodox approaches to TA can fundamentally be defined by three central claims. First, project success originates from the provision of established solutions in line with international "best practice". Second, the project implementation plan needs to be specified a priori and followed diligently. Third, projects require clear leadership from high-level authority figures.

Amongst the most renowned contemporary approaches are Problem-driven Iterative Adaptation (PDIA), Thinking and Working Politically (TWP), and Adaptive Management, which can be related to DDD. Whilst being intrinsically separate approaches which set slightly different foci regarding the factors and mechanisms which promote project success, they share several commonalities in their principles (Nastase et al., 2021; Wigboldus et al., 2011; Andrews, 2013; Carothers & de Gramont, 2011). First, they advocate for focusing on developing local capacity; that is, TA projects ought to elevate the potential of recipient organisations to perform the supported tasks independently, instead of "doing the job for them". Second, TA projects should be built around concrete local problems, as opposed to offering pre-defined solutions. Third, local ownership is key to ensure the alignment of the project with local needs and preferences. Lastly, TA agents need to recognise the necessity of adaptive and iterative change during the implementation process.

Beyond these theoretical debates, several studies have investigated the factors and underlying mechanisms which determine the outcomes of TA projects in the public sector. Most studies employ single or multiple case studies within a specific region or country, which are funded or implemented by a particular development organisation (e.g., Sida, DFID). The following is a synthesis of the most frequently listed factors, presented by thematic groups, which could be identified during this literature review.

3.1 Factors related Project Inception and Design

Several scholars conclude that an in-depth inception stage with a timely and effective dialogue between the implementing and recipient organisation, as well as effective stakeholder engagement has benefitted project outcomes (Carneiro et al., 2015; Bayiley & Teklu, 2016; Allen et al., 2020; Booth & Unsworth, 2014). Furthermore, projects were more successful when the targeted problems are understood within their local context (Khang & Moe, 2008; Allen et al., 2020; Booth & Unsworth, 2014). Thus, subsequently, the project objectives were in line with the needed and available capacity of the recipient organisation (Carneiro et al., 2015), as well as the priorities of both partnership sides (Khang & Moe, 2008; Bayiley & Teklu, 2016; Davison et al., 2014). Lastly, when designing project activities, it proved to be beneficial to consider and work with local incentive structures to enhance their effectiveness and sustainability (Allen et al., 2020; Piron et al., 2021).

3.2 Factors related to Project Implementation

As for the implementation of projects, five main beneficial factors are listed in the literature. First, iterative implementation with the purpose of identifying the contextually best-fitting solutions has been lifted as a reason for success (Davison et al., 2014; Booth & Unsworth, 2014). Second, developing interventions on a system-wide basis has contributed to greater contributions of Swedish TA projects in the Western Balkans (Allen et al., 2020). Third, a sufficiently long project timeframe with continuity within the project staff has in many cases enhanced the sustainability of project outcomes, as it enables iterative learning an experimentation (Davison et al., 2014), and the development of relationships between the implementing organisation and local stakeholders (Davison et al., 2014, Piron et al., 2021).

Forth, projects were more successful when their team engaged in continuous monitoring and evaluation of the project progress, as well as contextual trends (Davison et al., 2014; Davison et al., 2014). As Carneiro et al. (2015) found, this relates to working in a results-oriented

manner, as it helped project teams to connect current project progress and contextual trends to the long-term objectives and thereby clarifies whether and what types of corrective measures were needed.

3.3 Factors related to Project Inputs

Perhaps unsurprisingly, the availability of adequate resources and commitment of the project partners was found to be important factors determining project outcomes (Piron et al., 2021; Bayiley & Teklu, 2016). Indeed, several studies indicate that sufficient capacity of the implementing organisation plays a pivotal role. This includes dimensions of competency of project staff in terms of project management skills, their sensitivity for and ability to engage with the local context, as well as their technical knowledge about the targeted problem areas (Davison et al., 2014; Piron et al., 2021; Bayiley & Teklu, 2016; Allen et al., 2020).

Furthermore, the nature of the support from the funding partner has also been identified as critical. In their synthesis study of seven projects implemented in different world regions, Booth and Unsworth (2014) find that flexible and strategic funding has been beneficial to project outcomes by enabling an adaptive and demand-driven implementation strategy. Furthermore, the Swedish Embassies as the representative funding partner to Swedish CD projects in the Western Balkans has functioned as a mediator between the project team and local stakeholders (Allen et al., 2020).

Conclusively, it can be said that, despite recent advances, as detailed above, the empirical evidence on the factors determining project outcomes remains patchy and inconclusive. Particularly, as Hudson and Marquette (2015) summarise the current state of the literature, "we need to understand the *mechanisms* [emphasis in original] better. What is it about a particular programme that makes it successful? Disaggregating such processes requires either in-depth longitudinal or comparative analysis, or both in order to rule different factors in or out" (p.8).

4. Theoretical Framework

4.1 Key terms and Concepts

4.1.1 Technical Assistance

The most frequently cited definition comes from the World Bank which defines TA as "the transfer, adaptation, mobilization, and utilization of services, skills, knowledge, technology, and engineering to build national capacity on a sustainable basis" (WB, 1994). The definitions of most scholars are in line with the above, highlighting that TA implies "the transfer or adaptation of ideas, knowledge, practices and skills to foster development" (Bazbauers, 2017, p.246), which takes the shape of "non-financial support" (Nastase et al., 2021, p.3).

The following is the definition of this study: TA seeks to enhance the capacity of a recipient partner through the transfer of skills, knowledge, resources, and technology by an external partner. Capacity is understood as "the ability of people, organisations and society as a whole to manage their affairs successfully" (OECD, 2011, p.2).

According to Nastase et al. (2020), one can differentiate between three types of TA to the public sector based on the relationship between the implementing and recipient partners. First, when pursuing capacity substitution, the implementing agent performs specified functions which the recipient partner is expected to perform. Second, in a capacity supplementation cooperation, the implementing agent complements the practices of the recipient partner through the provision of unique and specific expertise. Third, under CD, the implementing agent facilitates a "process through which individuals, organizations and societies obtain, strengthen and maintain the capabilities to set and achieve their own development objectives over time" (UNDP, 2022).

4.1.2 Technical Assistance Project

Reading through the definition of TA, it becomes apparent that the concept inherently implies the cooperation between at least two agents, who are engaging in a process with a certain goal and modality, in the broadest sense. This seems to suggest that TA implicitly occurs in the form of projects. Ofori (2013) offers a useful conceptualisation by defining projects as a "sequence of unique, complex, and connected activities having one goal or purpose that must be completed by a specific time, within budget, and according to specification. This can be contrasted from a routine set of activities or daily operations which are intended to be continuous process without



Figure 2: Conceptual Model of a Technical Assistance Project

a planned end" (p.16). Hence, a TA project has the purpose of transferring previously absent capacity to a recipient partner within a clearly delimitated timeframe and pool of resources.

Several scholars have provided models of TA project, each highlighting particular constituent elements (e.g., Khang & Moe, 2008; Allen et al., 2020; Carneiro et al., 2015). For this study, a generic model of a TA project has been developed (see Figure 2). The contributions of Allen et al. (2020) and Carneiro et al. (2015) served as sources of inspiration, whilst the finalised composition resulted from the author's personal considerations.

For the sake of clarity, each dimension of the TA project is conceptualised as distinct from one another and ordered as displayed to simplify the data collection and analysis process, as well as subsequent discussions. There are multiple possible approaches on how to structure TA project, which all entail different theoretical arguments on how these project dimensions are, can and should be related to one another (e.g., Andrews, 2013), none of which is prioritised by the model.

4.2 Outcome Dimensions

To facilitate meaningful research on the factors which contribute to project success, it is imperative to have a sound and robust conceptualisation of project outcomes. Indeed, many scholars have struggled with this challenge and utilised different approaches². For this study, the evaluation criteria developed by the OECD DAC were utilised, with minor adaptations to suit the research design and empirical material (see Table 1). That is, the criterion "coherence" has not been included, as it was deemed marginally relevant to the empirical analysis. Each evaluation criterion corresponds to a question, which defines what type of outcome is referred to. OECD DAC provides a generic set of questions and suggests for them to be adjusted and reformulated to the specific context and needs of each project, which is to be evaluated (OECD DAC, 2022a). Accordingly, the evaluation questions, which are displayed in Table 1, have been modulated to the purpose of this study and represent the conceptual understanding of each outcome dimension, respectively. In this context, project success can be understood as the extent to which a project has high relevance to the local context, achieves its goals

² Khang and Moe (2008) have synthesised a useful overview over different attempts to define project success from the research literature.

Dimension	Evaluation Questions
Relevance	To what extent is the project trying to address a substantial problem in its
	local context of implementation?
Effectiveness	To what extent is the project achieving its goals and objectives?
Efficiency	How well are the resources and input into the project used relative to the output?
Impact	What changes has the project produced?
Sustainability	What is the potential for the produced changes to last in the future?

Table 1: Project Evaluation Matrix

Based on OCED DAC's (2022a) Evaluation Criteria

and objectives, utilises the most efficient resources relative to the produced outputs, has a large impact on the locus of implementation, and produces sustainable results.

The use of OECD DAC's criteria can be motivated by two considerations. First, they allow for evaluations which go beyond the specificities of each project, respectively, and therefore allow for meaningful discussions and analyses across cases. This is particularly important to multiple case studies, such as in this case (Andrews, 2013; Hudson & Marquette, 2015). However, at the same time, they provide sufficient nuance and versatility to consider the quality in outcomes in a variable way, thus treating project outcomes as a matter of degree rather than a dichotomous question. Second, it is common practice in the landscape of Swedish development practice to use these criteria to evaluate interventions by development agents funded by Sida. Correspondingly, four of the evaluation reports and reviews used for analysis are structured in this way (Moran et al., 2019; van Gerwen & Madaya, 2021; Andersson & Anger, 2017; SCB-KNBS, n.d.).

Lastly, it might be wise to elaborate the difference between output and outcome, as both are integrated in the model of a TA project and there might be a risk to inflate their meanings otherwise. The dividing line is what can be directly influenced. Outputs are the directly produced results of project activities, which are concrete and clearly detectable. In contrast, outcomes are much more diffuse and refer to the substantial effects a project has on its context of implementation. For instance, a project activity might be to provide a workshop on how to use a specific computer software. In this case, the delivery of the workshop is the output, whilst the ability of participants to use the software independently could be an outcome.

4.3 Problem-driven Iterative Adaptation

Problem-driven Iterative Adaptation (PDIA) represents a comprehensive and descriptively detailed approach to development work with state governance and public sector institutions. Popularised by Matt Andrews, Lant Pritchett, and Michael Woolcock, PDIA seeks to build on the research literature on and practical experiences with state governance development and synthesise various suggestions and innovations for development work into an extensive and practicable framework (Andrews et al., 2017, pp.135-36).

PDIA sets a particular focus on the ways and mechanisms through which development projects are designed and implemented to solve concrete local problems (Lawson et al., 2020, p.21; Andrews et al., 2017, p.28). Conceptually, it is constituted by four principles, which will be explained consecutively in the following paragraphs. For this thesis, the principles will be associated to project design and implementation and managing the relationship with stakeholders. Note that these categories should not be understood as discrete and distinct. Rather, all principles are closely interlinked and interdependent, as will become evident below. During the elaboration, the theoretical effect of each principle on the outcome dimensions of a project will be highlighted.

4.3.1 Project Design and Implementation with PDIA

Employing a Problem-driven Focus

As the label suggests, developing a project according to the problem-driven principle means that the project design puts an identified development problem at its centre. However, it is essential to not assume problems to be self-evident phenomena. On the contrary, Andrews et al. (2017) emphasise the need of active problem definition in accordance with the local context. As such, they describe the following ideal-typical process of project definition. First, a problem is rendered salient and relevant through collaborative consultation with key stakeholders (Ibid., p.143). Second, by deconstructing the problem into its unique root causes, it becomes possible to consider realistic activities to address the former (Ibid., p.153). Thus, in the last step, the resulting model of the deconstructed problem can be used to formulate an effective project design which addresses various root causes through targeted activities (Ibid., p.158). According to PDIA, an activity is effective because of the following characteristics. First, it receives sufficient material and social support from the project team and stakeholders. Second, it fits together with other activities to mount into a combined effect which solves the targeted problem

(Ibid., pp.158-59). The hypothesis here is that the aggregate effect of such activities mounts into an effective solution to the larger problem (Ibid., p.153).

Working in a problem-driven fashion requires an active dialogue between the project team and local stakeholders. The nature of the relationship between international donors and local recipients has far-reaching implications for the relevance and legitimacy of development interventions, dependent on which actor asserted more influence on the problem definition (Bazbauers, 2017). Therefore, the problem definition process results in the most relevant and effective project design, when there is an active dialogue between the project team and local stakeholders, which arrives at a mutual agreement of a concrete problem and a shared understanding of its root causes (Andrews et al., 2017, pp.142, 153).

Employing a problem-driven focus has important effects on the potential project outcomes. The emphasis on contextual sensitivity and fitting project objectives to local priorities and needs through stakeholder engagement constitutes the basis for local ownership of the project (Booth & Unsworth, 2014, p.4). Additionally, the inclusion of a wide and diverse base of stakeholders ensures that the problem definition corresponds to the experiences of the largest possible number of affected people, substantiating the project relevance. Furthermore, by leveraging local knowledge, a holistic conceptualisation of the problem can be generated which will benefit the degree of impact and sustainability of the results produced by a project. By addressing a myriad of root causes to a problem, the probability of effectively mitigating the latter will increase (greater impact), and the potential of it re-emerging in the future will decrease (greater sustainability) (Ibid., p.3).

Embracing Experimental Iteration

The second principle is concerned with how activities are selected and implemented best throughout the project period. Once again, PDIA emphasises the importance of coherence and fit between the context, in which the targeted problem is embedded, and the project components and activities (Andrews et al., 2017, p.168-69). The establishment of such fit, however, is constrained by an epistemological reality; it is difficult to know in advance, which activities will solve or mitigate a problem, especially when the latter is complex, and its context diffuse. The reason for this is captured well by Temenos & McCann (2013, p.344):

"[...] we should not assume that the policies themselves, or their proliferation, are somehow "natural" or teleological. They are not naturally or unproblematically good or

"best", and what is important about them is not so much that they move around in some abstract sense but that people move them around for particular purposes."

In line with this perspective, Andrews et al. (2017) propose a strategy which they call experimental iteration. The general idea is to implement various activity ideas in an experimental fashion, and to use previous experiences during the project implementation to iteratively reflect upon, plan and potentially adjust future activities (Ibid., pp.180, 188-90). As such, by implementing and evaluating several activities to address a particular causal factor, the most effective and efficient activity will emerge out of this process (Ibid., p.177). For this, the project team needs to harvest information continuously and effectively about the causal factors which is supposed to be addressed, the available resources, and the political and social structures which surround the causal factor (Booth & Unsworth, 2014, p.3). This allows for continuous adaptations and adjustments to the project activities, whereby the latter are rendered technically sound. Furthermore, it is ensured that they draw from factually available resources and support. As a result, experimental iteration will promote the overall project to realise its highest potential of effectiveness and efficiency.

4.3.2 PDIA's Approach to the Management of Relationships with Stakeholders

Managing the Authorising Environment

One important implication of development problems is that they are intrinsically interrelated to local structures of authority. As already stated above, there is usually a myriad of stakeholders which are affected by a problem, and which have the ability and resources to influence the problem in different ways (Andrews et al., 2017, p.201-06). This makes it vital for project teams to receive the necessary support from specific stakeholders to be able to implement the project effectively and without any opposition. Particularly, by definition, the authority of people in power positions (both from the funding and recipient side) grants them considerable sway over the fate of the project at any stage (Ibid., p.195). Therefore, the relationship between the project team and the stakeholders is a crucial determinant of the effectiveness, impact, and sustainability of a project.

An adaptive, experimental, iterative, and flexible project design requires three specific types of support from authority agents. First, the support needs to be flexible, which is to say that the authority agents must be willing to grant adaptations and alternations to the project, rather than demanding the realisation of a particular stock of pre-planned results (Andrews et al., 2017,

p.198-99). Second, given PDIA's emphasis on broad stakeholder engagement, each authority agent must be willing to share their ownership of the project with other stakeholders (Ibid., p.199). Lastly, experimental iteration will most likely lead to short-term failures, as the project team seeks to identify the most suitable activities. Throughout the process, the authority agents need to showcase patience and resilience against the temptation of withdrawing support (Ibid., p.199). The sum of these three types of support is what Andrews et al. (2017) call an "authorizing environment" (p.194).

Scaling up the project through Broad Stakeholder Engagement

As already mentioned above, engaging a broad base of stakeholders from many different social and political positions in the project is an essential factor in achieving relevant, effective, and sustainable results. This type of diversity has important ramifications, as it helps connect people with the authority to promote and bring about change (through the project) to those people who most acutely experience the consequences of the problem and, thus, can most clearly identify it (Andrews et al., 2017, pp. 219-23). This is particularly valuable during the problem definition, as outlined above. It also helps to pool different types of expertise and knowledge which might help to facilitate experimental iteration through a more nuanced monitoring of the project progress (Ibid., pp.219-23). Hence, broad stakeholder engagement contributes to greater project effectiveness and efficiency, as it serves as a critical premise for identifying the most effective activities and widens the disposal of available skills and resources.

Stakeholder engagement strategies can broadly take three shapes. First, when leveraging, politically astute agents develop a general project, before generating support and acceptance around it. For this strategy, the implementing agent plays a central role in facilitating the project, whilst consulting other people to assist in developing and implementing activity ideas (Andrews et al., 2017, p.227). Second, convening and connecting is based on setting up formal and informal platforms and coalitions to bring different people with different resources and skills together to define the problem, design a project around the former, and implement it collectively and collaboratively (Ibid., 2017, p.227). Lastly, accumulating represents the polar extreme to leveraging, where there is no a priori organisational design for the project team to connect with stakeholders. Instead, relationships are established on an ad hoc basis and as spontaneous responses to circumstantial interactions and opportunities (Ibid., p.229).

5. Methods

5.1 Research Design

This study aims to explain the mechanism of influence which characterises the linkage between different factors and respective outcome dimensions in the most detailed fashion possible. TA projects are characterised by complex structures and dynamics. Hence, the influences of factors and their interplay must be understood in the context of each project (Punch, 2005, p.144; Robson & McCartan, 2016, pp.150-51). Therefore, this study employs a comparative case study design, since it allows for the analysis of nuances and specificities in the selected project cases and their context, whilst simultaneously substantiating the analysis through the contrasting of patterns between and within the project cases (Goodrick, 2014).

5.1.1 Generalisability of Results

Case studies are inherently limited in their ability to produce generalisable results beyond of the scope of the cases they study (Robson & McCartan, 2016, p.173). Thus, the results produced here cannot be assumed to represent the reality of other TA projects within Kenya or other countries. Nonetheless, there is still value in the results of this study. The underlying strategy is to develop coherent and theoretically sound propositions which contextualise and elaborate the mechanisms of how the identified factors influence the outcomes of a respective project. In that way, the resulting propositions and hypotheses can be analytically applied to and tested in the context of similar TA projects (Punch, 2005, pp.145-48; Robson & McCartan, 2016, p.173).

5.2 Data Collection

There are two types of data which constitute the empirical material collected for this study: grey literature in the form of project documentation and interviews with key informants from each of the two projects. Each source of data will be discussed in detail below.

The choice of combining the listed data sources is based on the following reasoning. While project documentation provides a thorough overview over many dimensions and components of the respective projects, the information it provides is contingent on the focus set in each respective document. As the former do not explicitly share the focus of this paper, information relevant to this study might potentially be omitted. To mitigate this risk, interviews were conducted to specifically investigate the project cases from the vantage point of the research

question, and, thus, complement the project documentation. Conversely, interviewees might not be able to recall specific facts about the projects, which might be clearly reported in the project records (Robson & McCartan, 2016, p.361).

5.2.1 Interviews

The first data source was interviews with key informants about the projects. That is, interviewees were selected based on their ability to provide valid and reliable information about the projects which they are associated to. As such, any member of the project staff in higher administrative role was considered suitable as an interviewee.

A snowball sampling strategy was employed to reach project staff which fit the specified criteria (see Robson & McCartan, 2016, p.281). The initially retrieved documents related to the projects were used as the starting point for this strategy, since they listed contact persons for the projects. By reaching out to the latter, I was kindly referred to project staff which could provide me with the required information. Additionally, in several instances, interviewees put me in contact with former or current colleagues. Since the people who referred me further have a decent overall understanding of the project, they were aware which people would function as suitable key informants. The final list of five interviewees was comprised of project managers, resident LTAs, and experts involved in the project inception stage, which were employed by SCB and STA, respectively (see Table A1).

As the interviewees were located at various countries during the time of interviewing, the most suitable meeting technique were digital video calls. Four interviews were conducted via Zoom, whilst one was held using Google Meet. This had two major advantages. First, by eliminating the issues related to geographical proximity, it broadened the pool of possible interviewees. Second, the build-in functions of the digital meeting software greatly simplified the recording of the interviews and the subsequent transcription of the produced audio files.

The chosen approach to the interviews was a semi-structured design. Consequently, I followed the overall structure of an interview guide and consulted the specific interview questions when needed. Additionally, punctual questions were formulated based on opportunities emerging from the interviews (see Robson & McCartan, 2016, p.285). The interview guide was developed using the conceptual project model (Figure 2), and Allen et al.'s interview guide (2020, Appendix 7) as reference points. However, I used my own considerations to refine the interview guide into its finalised version (see Appendix B).

The overall goal was to encourage the interviewees to reflect upon which factors and elements had a particular influence on the project outcomes. In general, all questions were formulated in an open-ended format and as clear, understandable, value-free, and unbiased as possible.

One main strength of semi-structured interviews is that they enable the interviewees to formulate their responses in a largely flexible manner. This allows for the free association and construction of knowledge according to the experiences and understanding the interviewees have, which increases the depth and substance of the produced knowledge (Robson & McCartan, 2016, p.285, 289; Punch, 2005, p.172). Given the explorative nature of the research question, these characteristics make semi-structured interviews useful tools of data collection for this research project.

5.2.2 Documents

The second source for empirical material was grey literature in the form of project documents. The population of suitable documents encompassed any document produced by the project team (e.g., strategy and policy papers, concept notes, and agreements), proposals and agreements with external partners such as Sida, and external and internal evaluation reports and reviews of the project performances. However, as there are no readily accessible project archives, two pragmatic sampling strategies were employed to retrieve and access documents. First, searches were conducted on Open Aid, Sida's website, and Google, whereby the following key words were used: the titles of the projects, as listed in the activity archive on Open Aid; and descriptions of the projects (STA/Skatteverket KRA cooperation; SCB/Statistics Sweden KNBS cooperation). Second, documents were requested from key informants with access to all project documentation. The final sample contained external and internal evaluation reports, mid-term reviews, and proposals for project extension/follow-up. Four documents stem from the KNBS-SCB cooperation, whilst three are associated to the KRA-STA cooperation.

5.3 Data Analysis

For the analysis of the collected data, a thematic coding analysis approach was employed. During this approach, the researcher aims to develop a coherent and compelling interpretation about specific dynamics in the data by relating coded elements or sections of the collected data to themes and concepts on a larger level of abstraction. In that way, consistent groups within the data are used as indicators to support arguments about the theoretical relationships between different themes and concepts (Robson & McCartan, 2016, pp.467-480; Punch, 2005, pp.197-204). Practically, this was done through marking and note-taking in the interview transcripts and documents, and organisation of codes and themes in digital tables and spreadsheets.

During the analysis process, the material was combined through triangulation. As such, both sources were applied on an equal level to verify whether a particular fact or explanation found in one source is consistent with the explanation offered in other sources (Robson & McCartan, 2016, p.171; Goodrick, 2014). The analysis strategy used for this study was structured in three stages, as elaborated below.

5.3.1 Description of the projects

During the first stage, all two projects were summarised based on the following criteria and questions:

- *Key facts (e.g., budget size; time frame; location).*
- Who were the partners involved in the project (Swedish, Kenyan, and others)?
- What were the goals and objectives of the project?
- Which activities and interventions were implemented during the project?

Hence, the coding process emphasised deductive analysis, whereby the listed items functioned as the filter for the material (see Punch, 2005, p.200). The results of these project descriptions are elaborated in section 6.2 and displayed in Appendix C.

5.3.2 Evaluation of the Outcome Dimensions

The second stage of analysis aimed to clarify what outcomes the project produced. This process was based on the framework laid out in Table 1. As such, the definitions of the outcome dimensions were used as pre-specified thematic codes to evaluate the projects in a deductive manner. The performance of both projects regarding each outcome dimension is illustrated in section 6.1 and summarised in Appendix D.

5.3.3 Investigation of Outcome-determining Factors

The analysis of potential explanatory factors was approached following an abductive strategy, whereby each factor was considered against its hypothesised effect on one or several outcome

dimensions, whilst simultaneously considering the theoretical propositions and concepts which constitute PDIA. The choice of PDIA was based on the main themes which emerged from the material during initial inductive coding episodes. Hence, the second stage represented an iterative process of developing propositions from the data, and the subsequent verification of the former by testing them against additional data from the same and the other project, as well as by relating the results to the theoretical framework (Punch, 2005, pp.196-99).

Practically, this was done in two steps using Goodrick's comparative case study design (2014) as inspiration. First, each project was analysed separately using a contribution analysis approach which aimed to "identify verifiable [factors and] mechanisms through which the [respective project] can claim to have contributed to the identified outcomes" (Allen et al., 2020, p.38). The conceptual model of a TA project served as the guiding framework to initially structure the data according to the general project component. The goal is to find common patterns within the empirical data for each project to explain successful project outcomes. This was done in two ways. First, time-based and cross-component variations were used as a counterfactual to make intra-case comparisons (see Goodrick, 2014). Second, the information from different sources (i.e., documents and interviewees) has been compared to one another to establish commonalities in provided explanations for the respective project outcomes (Ibid.).

During the second step, the projects were compared to one another to determine commonalities in patterns of success, thereby building on the findings from the previous step. Additionally, when two or more projects showcased considerable differences in one or several outcome dimensions, possible explanations were developed based on these differences (Robson & McCartan, 2016, p.479; Punch, 2005, p.204).

5.4 Limitations

Whilst the research design of this study is believed to be generally robust, there are, nonetheless, several limitations pertained to it, which must be highlighted and considered.

5.4.1 Limitations of the Data Collection Methods

The aim of this study implies an analytical focus on a meso-level phenomenon (a TA project) and, thus, goes beyond the experiences of individuals. However, the information obtained from interviews and documents reflect the views, thoughts, and believes of the people which have

provided the respective information. As such, the material analysed in this study functions as a proxy for direct observations and investigations of the intrinsic nature of TA projects (McLennan & Prinsen, 2014, p.82).

Furthermore, it is reasonable to assume that many of the outcomes which a TA project might produce, require some time to fully manifest and become detectable. Hence, this poses several issues for the potential of the empirical material to adequately capture the project outcomes, as some effects might require a longer time to emerge and making it difficult to ascertain the sustainability of the results (Booth & Unsworth, 2014, p.7).

Lastly, as Small argues, qualitative research seeks to achieve saturation in information about the cases studied (Small in Robson & McCartan, 2016, pp.166-67). This means that after a certain point during the data collection, any additionally obtained empirical sources merely restates or reemphasises the information found in previous sources. As for this paper, it is important to note that the scope of available resources (most importantly time) did not suffice to reach satisfactory saturation. This might have strained the validity of the produced results, as potentially relevant empirical data was not included in the analysis of this study. For this, three reasons can be highlighted. First, the sample of interviewees excluded Kenyan project stakeholders, such as the primary receiving partner. Additionally, women are severely underrepresented in the sample of interviewees and authors of documents, although its effect on the study is expected to be minimal. Second, the time constraint limited the number of consulted interviewees and documents. Third, the analysis of documents is limited to the information provided by the former, implying that anything not included will remain undetected. Whilst the combination of interviews and document analysis is supposed to counteract the weaknesses of each source, respectively, this limitation is likely to remain to some extent.

5.4.4 Limitations to Data Analysis

The biggest shortcoming of the analysis in this study is the lack of counterfactuals at hand. Ideally, the studied projects would provide the premises which enable meaningful investigation and comparison based on contrasting experiences, whilst showcasing sufficient similarities. However, these conditions are not satisfied by the cases under study here. As section 7.1 illustrates, both projects have been largely successful in most outcome dimensions. Nonetheless, there are several instances which allow for counterfactual comparisons concerning particular elements of the projects. This, however, is the exception, must be kept in mind when reading and evaluating the validity of the results (comp. Andrews, 2013).

5.5 Ethical Considerations

To conclude the discussion of methods, some ethical considerations are warranted. First, the use of interviews required specific measures concerning informed consent and confidentiality. Therefore, the interviewees were informed about the background of the researcher in the beginning of each interview, as well as the aim and purpose of the research question. Afterwards, assurance was provided that the information they provide will be treated with the strictest confidentiality, and they were free to withdraw their consent to participate in the study at any time. Once this introduction was transacted, each interviewee was asked for their informed consent to participate in the study and for their allowance to the record the interview.

Second, as this study draws from attitudinal data and information collected by others to draw conclusions about the projects, I committed to representing their views in an adequate and accurate way and avoid distortions of information. This is particularly relevant, since the investigated topic constitutes the livelihood of the "participants" in this study.

6. Background

6.1 Public Sector Governance and Development Assistance in Kenya

The World Bank has classified Kenya as a lower middle-income country from 2011 onwards (WB, 2022; Prydz & Wadhwa, 2019). Since 1992, the political system in Kenya is defined as a multi-party system with a presidential order. As such, the president, being directly elected by the voters, functions as the head of government and state (EKJ, 2022). In 2010, Kenya received a new constitution, which aims to increase public participation within political processes and decision-making at a national and local level through extensive decentralisation. For this purpose, 47 new counties were established following the 2013 elections, with greater political and financial powers (MFAS, n.d.(b)). However, despite its democratic makeup, the political system struggles to maintain a fully functional democratic order, as indicated by an average Freedom House score of 48,75 out of 100 between 2017 and 2020 (Freedom House, 2022), and



Figure 3: Kenya - Net official development assistance and official aid received

Source: World Bank Databank, 2022a

a range between 0.35 to 0.4 on a scale from 0 to 1 between 2010 and 2020 on V-Dem's liberal democracy index (V-Dem, 2022).

Kenya's state administration is struggling with widespread patron-client relationships between the political and economic elites and ordinary citizens, as well as cases of corruption (see Figure E1) (MFAS, n.d.(a), n.d.(b)). These phenomena constrain the quality of governance in Kenya and limit the ability of the government to act effectively. This is also reflected in moderate to low scores in government effectiveness (see Figure E2) and regulatory quality (see Figure E3) of the GoK.

Considering such issues and others, the GoK under President Mwai Kibaki launched the Kenya Vision 2030 agenda in 2008. It presents an extensive and ambitious development plan for the country, which is supposed to be achieved by 2030 and is constituted of three pillars (economic, political, social). The overarching goal is to "create a globally competitive and prosperous nation with a high quality of life by 2030, that aims to transform Kenya into a newly industrializing, middle-income country providing a high quality of life to all its citizens by 2030 in a clean and secure environment" (Kenya Vision 2030, 2022).

Additional to such domestic development initiatives, there is a broad base of international donors engaged in Kenya. Between 2010 and 2019, Kenya is estimated to have received official development assistance and aid with a total worth of about 25.6 billion US\$ (current), which corresponds to an annual value ranging from 1.6 to 3.3 billion US\$ (see Figure 3). Out of this total amount, Sweden provided a considerable share of support. According to the OECD DAC

(2022b), Sweden was the sixth-largest bilateral donor of ODA to Kenya between 2018-2019, and the tenth-largest donor, when also considering multilateral donor institutions.

6.2 Swedish Development Cooperation in Kenya

Compared to the other partner countries of Sida, Kenya has received the seventh largest amount of bilateral development assistance between 2010 and 2020 with a total transaction of 730.32 million USD. Sweden's strategies for development cooperation have been formulated using Kenya's Vision 2030 as their guiding principle (Sweden Abroad, 2022). For the inspected period, the MFAS has issued two separate country strategies which provided the framework for Swedish development cooperation within Kenya. The first strategy was in effect between 2009 and 2013 and focussed on the areas of democratic governance, natural resources and the environment, and urban development (MFAS, n.d.(a)). Its successor accounted for the years 2016 to 2020 and showcased slight alternations to the set focus. As such, it specified cooperation to be directed towards improved environmental quality and greater resilience to environmental impacts, climate change and natural disasters, strengthening democracy, gender equality and human rights, and greater possibilities for poor people to improve their living conditions (MFAS, n.d.(b)).

Additionally, the strategies specify some foundational principles which function as cornerstones the design of programmes and project subsumed under it. The MFAS require all activities to follow a rights perspective³, which is to say that each project must be based on the extensive consideration of the "challenges, needs and conditions of poor people and society" (MFAS, n.d.(b), p.7). This implies that Swedish contributions must reflect an inherent contextual sensitivity, which is demand-driven and promotes local ownership (Ibid.).

The two projects analysed in this study have been implemented under the umbrella of the Kenya Strategy 2016-2020.⁴ Both projects are summarised extensively in Appendix C. In general, they both represent development cooperation between a Swedish state agency and its respective Kenyan counterpart, in which a Swedish project team from the respective agency provided CD

³ In the Kenya strategy 2016-2020, a rights perspective is defined as follows: "A comprehensive view of the challenges, needs and conditions of poor people and society is the foundation of development cooperation. The guiding principle is that economic, social and environmental conditions and processes are to be interpreted and managed in an integrated context" (MFAS, n.d.(b), p.7).

⁴ The first phases of both projects have been initiated prior to this strategy. No information could be obtained regarding the strategy which these phases were associated to. As for the second phase, both projects are categorised under the Kenya Strategy 2016-2020 according to Open Aid (Open Aid, 2022a; Open Aid, 2022b).

to a recipient Kenyan agency. The projects were financed exclusively by Sida (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020; Moran et al., 2019). In the following two sections, each project will be introduced in more detail.

6.2.1 Cooperation between KNBS and SCB Statistics Sweden

This cooperation was a project between SCB and KNBS. Both organisations function as the central statistical agency within the public administration of each country, respectively. Preparatory activities were carried out in 2014, before the project formally started in 2015. Subsequently, two phases were implemented between 2015-2018 and 2019-2021. The main location was at KNBS' headquarters in Nairobi, to which several smaller study visits and field activities to Sweden and within Kenya were added. Across both phases, the project had an allocated budget of about 52 million SEK, which was provided by Sida (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020; SCB-KNBS, 2018; SCB-KNBS, n.d.(b)).

At the time of project inception, KNBS was a relatively young agency, having been established in 2006 (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020, p.18; SCB-KNBS, 2018, p.5). It operates under a semiautonomous status under the supervision of the National Treasury and Planning Ministry (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020, p.19) and has two areas of responsibility: the production, analysis and publication of publicly accessible statistical information and the coordination and supervision of Kenya's National Statistical System⁵ (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020, p.18; SCB-KNBS, 2018, p.5). As such, KNBS plays a pivotal role in monitoring and guiding the development efforts of the GoK, as defined under Kenya Vision 2030 (SCB-KNBS, 2018, p.5).

Within this context, the overall aim of the project was that "KNBS and the National Statistical System in Kenya have improved their institutional capacity to deliver relevant, reliable and timely statistical information, produced using sound statistical methods and practices in line with international standards" (SCB-KNBS, n.d.(b), p.5). This objective was further divided into two broad components. In the first component, the objective was to concretely improve KNBS' capabilities to produce certain statistics within selected thematic areas: economic, agricultural, environmental, and gender statistics. Component two aimed at improving KNBS' organisational capacity to structure, coordinate and plan internal working processes and resources. The working areas here were management and strategic planning, methodology, staff

⁵ The National Statistical System is a network of government ministries, department, and agencies, as well as other producers of statistics, such as the Kenyan counties, in their functions to produce and supply statistics (SCB-KNBS, n.d.(b), p.7).

development and trainees, and ICT and systems development (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2022, pp.22-23; SCB-KNBS, n.d.(b)).

Lastly, given its far-reaching implications for virtually every societal area, the effects related to the pandemic with COVID-19 must be mentioned as a pivotal external factor which greatly impacted the implementation of the project. Hence, throughout the majority of phase 2, activities were carried out remotely (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2021).

6.2.2 Cooperation between KRA and STA

The cooperation between STA and KRA was implemented across two project phases between 2014-2016 and 2017-2019, respectively. As in the other case, the main location of implementation was Nairobi, with several additional study visits and field activities in Sweden and Kenya. In total, the stipulated budget was 47.2 million SEK (Moran et al., 2019; STA-KRA, n.d.(a)).

KRA is the Kenyan taxation agency and, as such, is responsible for collecting and accounting for all revenues, as specified by Kenyan law. Additionally, it has an advisory role regarding revenue issues to the GoK (Moran et al., 2019, p.1). During the project, KRA operated under its 5th, 6th and 7th Corporate Plan, which contained the internal agenda for organisational development. All plans were related to the same overall objectives: enhancing revenue mobilisation through a broader revenue base and greater compliance; improvements in administrative capacity of KRA; enhancing professionalism of staff and setting a customer focus; and improving the business climate, as related to revenue processes (KRA, n.d.(a), pp.13-14; KRA, n.d.(b), p.x).

The objectives and components of the project related directly to KRA's Corporate Plans. Overall, it aimed to "increase tax revenue, tax base and level of compliance with tax regulations" (STA-KRA, n.d.(a), p.11) by implementing three components. The risk management component, which was sub-divided into corporate risk management and tax compliance risk management, sought to strengthen risk-based decision-making to contribute to effective revenue collection and, make the use of scarce resources more effective. The second component (change management) addressed KRA's organisational capacity by enhancing a customer focus and promoting staff compliance with KRA's vision and values. The final component (DWBI) had a special position within the project, as it was directly dependent on

the procurement of a data warehouse system⁶, which was financed by Danida, Sida and the GoK. As such, STA was not responsible for setting up the data warehouse but focussed their support on improving KRA's capacity to apply the former within its general agenda. Specifically, the data warehouse is supposed to improve decision-making for enterprises (STA-KRA, n.d.(a); Moran et al., 2019, pp.1-3).

7. Results

7.1 Evaluation of the Project Outcomes

This section presents the results of the outcome evaluation of the cooperation between KNBS and SCB, and the cooperation between KRA and STA, respectively. Overall, both projects can be said to have performed well and to at large extent have contributed to the changes which has been specified in their objectives. Nonetheless, there have been several minor shortcomings, as related to specific outcome dimensions. Appendix D contains a summary table for a general overview.

7.1.1 Relevance

Both projects were highly relevant to both the Kenyan partners and the Swedish development agenda. An important benchmark for this is the extent to which the project objectives align with the policies and strategies of the involved partners.

The KNBS-SCB cooperation was corresponding to KNBS' strategic plans for 2013-2020, the policies and Kenya Vision 2030 of the GoK, and Sida's strategies and policies for development cooperation in Kenya (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020). Additionally, the project was relevant to KNBS' role as coordinator within the NSS (SCB-KNBS, n.d.). These claims are substantiated by the high levels of satisfaction expressed by KNBS staff with the project priorities as reflected in the activities (Andersson & Anger, 2017, p.7-8).

Similarly, the objectives of the KRA-STA cooperation were aligned with KRA's Corporate Plans for the same period, as well as Kenya Vision 2030. For instance, KRA's 6th and 7th Corporate Plans, as well as the project objectives set the target to increase general revenue

⁶ The final report by STA for phase 2 of the project defines a data warehouse to be "a central repository for selected transaction data from various operational systems" (STA-KRA, n.d.(a), p.12).

mobilisation through revenue base expansion and tax compliance (comp. KRA, n.d.(a), pp.13-14; KRA, n.d.(b), p.x; STA-KRA, n.d.(a), p.11).

7.1.2 Effectiveness

Effectiveness refers to the extent to which a project realises the goals and objectives which it was supposed to achieve, which both projects managed to largely accomplish. However, in both cases some working areas remained entirely or partially unrealised.

Overall, most KNBS-SCB sub-components were achieved, such as support to economic and gender statistics, training of 68 KNBS statisticians and 8 young statisticians, which were part of the internship programme, as well as activities regarding organisational, planning and managerial capacities (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2019, p.28-29; Interviewee 2). Major deviations from the project plan occurred in the support to environmental and agricultural statistics and the set-up of new databases for internal ICT infrastructure, for which the envisaged targets were failed to be realised (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2019, p.29; Interviewee 2).

As for the KRA-STA cooperation, the project successfully implemented 95 of 111 planned activities, which corresponds to a negative deviation rate of 15% (STA-KRA, n.d.(b), p.16). As such, the project produced the planned outputs for the components on change management, risk management, and DWBI to a considerable extent (STA-KRA, n.d.(b), pp.17-20; Moran et al., 2019, p.26). However, due to interrelated nature of the latter two components with the DWBI component, their realisation was critically dependent on the progress within the external data warehouse procurement. Thus, since the data warehouse was not finalised during phase 1 and 2 of the KRA-STA cooperation (Moran et al., 2019, pp.16-20), it is not possible to determine with certainty whether the objectives of the risk management and DWBI component have been achieved (Ibid., pp.15, 21)

7.1.3 Efficiency

Both projects showcased a justifiable use of available resources, relative to the results of the projects (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020; Moran et al., 2019). However, some evidence indicates that the KNBS-SCB cooperation had a more consistent trend in budget depletion than the KRA-STA cooperation. As the external evaluation report for the former case points out, as of March 2020, the depletion rate was 85% with the probable potential to reach a high rate at the end of phase 2 (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020, p.24). This prediction proved to be accurate, as the

project reached a utilisation of 99% (SCB-KNBS, n.d., p.18). In contrast, the KRA-SCB cooperation was severely over-budgeted from 2014 to 2017 with an average utilisation rate of 57%. Nonetheless, the project is estimated to have utilised 89% of the allocated budget by the end of phase 2 in 2019 (Moran et al., 2019, p.29).

7.1.4 Impact

Impact is defined as the produced changes within the recipient partner organisation which can be attributed to the projects. Such an assessment is difficult to make, as it is difficult to isolate the causal effects of the projects on changes in their respective partner organisation from external influences. This is particularly apparent in the case of the KRA-STA cooperation. As noted by Moran et al. (2019), KRA has recorded increases in revenue collection and the tax compliance rate. However, there is a myriad of factors determining these phenomena, which makes it difficult to assess the individual influence of this project (Ibid., pp.32-35). Similarly, some factors determining the project impact lie without the realm of influence for the project team. For instance, a major concern for the KNBS-SCB cooperation is the extent to which the improved statistical products and organisational capacity of KNBS will be utilised by local stakeholders in policy- and decision-making (SCB-KNBS, n.d., pp.8-9, 20; Interviewee 2).

Despite these issues on a macro perspective, both projects seem to have had a considerable impact on the organisational capacities and processes, as related directly to the implemented components and activities. KNBS showcases a greater capacity to produce economic and gender statistics independently and has improved its organisational performance in planning and management of human, technical and financial resources both for daily production and when cooperating with other development partners (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020, pp.7, 37). Concordantly, stakeholders have expressed their appreciation of KNBS as a credible and reliable partner and source of high-quality statistical data (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020, p.39; Andersson & Anger, 2017, p.10).

In KRA's case, the evidence points towards a successful integration of a customer focus into the organisational structure and work (STA-KRA, n.d.(a), p.29). For instance, the main website has been redesigned to accommodate taxpayers (STA-KRA, n.d.(a), p.24; Moran et al., 2019, p.23). However, the training courses for in-house trainers were not formalised within KRA's general structure, thus inhibiting their long-term impact (Moran et al., 2019, pp.30-31).

7.1.5 Sustainability

As for the sustainability, the evaluation reports of each project conclude that the immediately produced results and outputs have a high probability of last in the future. As already noted, KNBS' capacity to produce economic and gender statistics independently has improved considerably throughout the project. Thus, the agency can be expected to continue to provide related high-quality products (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020, p.37; Interviewee 2). At KNBS, new departments have been established to specifically account for risk management and the data warehouse. Additionally, new strategies, policies and similar tools have been created during the project, which remain at KNBS' disposal going forward (Moran et al., 2019, pp.36-37).

Simultaneously, obstacles and risks to sustainability remain for both projects. For the KRA-STA cooperation, this is most acutely tied to the incomplete status of the data warehouse procurement, as of 2019. Given the interdependent nature of project components, it remains uncertain to what extent results in the former will be sustainable (Moran et al., 2019, p.37). Furthermore, the project experienced a deterioration of support from KRA's top management towards the end of the project. Therefore, it is unclear, how willing the top management is to utilise and safeguard the developed organisational capacities (STA-KRA, n.d.(a), p.33; Interviewee 4; Interviewee 5).

For KNBS, two major constraints remain. On the one hand, the agency has struggled with serious staffing shortages which poses a general risk to its working processes, including the areas and departments which were involved in the project (Interviewee 1; Interviewee 2). Second, the NSS has not been fully adapted to the decentralised sub-national structure, which was implemented in accord with the new constitution. That is, KNBS' presence on a county level remains peripheral, which limits the processing of statistical data from this level (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020, pp.40-41).

7.2 Factors explaining the Project Outcomes

The previous section presented the evaluation of the two analysed projects in terms of their performance in the five specified outcome dimensions. These results constitute the basis from which the research question of this study can be investigated. Thus, by considering the collected empirical material through the lens of PDIA, three propositions can be made, which help to explain the outcomes of the projects.

7.2.1 Establishing a Problem Definition which reflects Local Experiences

Within the framework of PDIA, the process of problem definition takes a foundational role since its results will be used as cornerstones for the development project at large. The concepts of problem construction play essential roles within this process, as it emphasises the need to collaboratively identify a problem based on contextual information and make it salient to its stakeholders. The empirical material provides evidence on the inception stages of the projects which can be associated to PDIA's approach to problem-driven work, and thereby helps to explain their relevance to the needs and priorities of their respective local partners.

To begin with, the pursuit for a locally embedded problem definition is an attitudinal matter, which is to say that the project teams need to be consciously and actively engaged in a process which produces the former. There are clear indications that this type of approach was present in both projects, as two interviewees emphasised:

"You must understand and have a respect for what has been achieved before [at KNBS] and be humble about that and come in and see that: OK, but how can we improve this together? [...] You have to understand the context. You have to adapt to the context, and you have to see that everything that we do in Sweden is not... [...] In our Swenglish, we can say: "But in Sweden, we do this." But we're not in Sweden, and that's a different culture, different system. We have to adapt and find the best solution for this context" (Interviewee 2 about the KNBS-SCB Cooperation).

"We have as a strategy, too, that what we do must be demand-driven. We should not have our own agenda. And we should all always take into consideration that what works in Sweden does probably not work in Kenya. So, understanding the context that [KRA] are in is super hard and super important" (Interviewee 5 about the KRA-KRA Cooperation).

As such, this highlights the sensitivity for the integrity and uniqueness of the local context and demand-driven focus, which systemically permeated the design and strategies of both projects. This focus of the projects partially originated from domestic guidelines such as MFAS' Kenya Strategy 2016-2020, which stipulates that all Sida-funded interventions in Kenya operate in a demand-driven fashion and apply a rights perspective (MFAS, n.d.(b), p.7-8).

Whilst this attitude of contextual sensitivity and demand-driven work constitutes an important basis to a relevant project design and objectives, they require considerate efforts to be put into practice. Both project teams were engaged in understanding the local context from multiple angles to identify the most relevant and impactful problem areas. The following are the most noteworthy characteristics of these efforts.

Overall, both projects included extensive inception periods with several events for collective consultation of major stakeholders, as well as the investigation of the local context. As such, their inceptions were characterised by broad stakeholder engagement which enabled the investigation of the local contexts from the perspectives of multiple stakeholder groups and, thus, contributed to greater project relevance.

SCB and KNBS liaised for about half a year before the formal start of the project in 2015 (Andersson & Anger, 2017, pp.6-7). This included three to four meetings in Nairobi, as well as a study visit of KNBS representatives to visit SCB' headquarters in Stockholm and meet with its top management. Additionally, several meetings with users of statistics and other development partners who were engaged with KNBS at that time were held (Interviewee 3).

In the case of KRA and STA, the inception stage stretched from 2012 to 2013 and was constituted of several meetings between STA, KRA and the Swedish Embassy in Nairobi. These meetings had the specific purpose to collaboratively identify the ideal areas of support by SCB based on KRA's 5th Corporate Plan, the Kenyan strategy for public financial management reform 2013-2018, and the competencies which STA could provide (Moran et al., 2019, p.9). Furthermore, fact finding missions by three STA staff members to Nairobi were implemented, which included interviews with external stakeholders, such as several private-sector audit companies from Kenya to learn from their perspectives and experiences of working with KRA, as well as meetings with the South Africa Revenue Service to gain a more holistic understanding of the issues based on local and regional knowledge (Interviewee 4). Lastly, a study visit of KRA staff to STA's headquarters in Stockholm was facilitated (Ibid.).

Both project teams considered the policies and strategies of their respective partner agencies and the Kenya Vision 2030 carefully when planning the project design. In the case of the KNBS-SCB cooperation, the extension proposal for phase 2, which the project team submitted to Sida in 2018, motivates the relevance of the project by referring to Kenya's Third Medium Term Plan (MTP III) 2018-22, and KNBS's strategic plan 2013-17 (SCB-KNBS, 2018, p.4). The mid-term review for phase 1 claims that the same process was followed during the start of the project (Andersson & Anger, 2017, p.7). This is further supported by one interviewee from SCB.

"We understood quite early that our support needed to be in line with the national strategical plans, the different plans for statistics. So, we worked quite a lot, making sure that everything we were doing was actually in line with their long-term strategies. And there we had a great help from the Director General because he really had a picture, an idea of where he wanted to head and what he wanted to develop" (Interviewee 3).

Likewise, STA and KRA's extension proposal to Sida for a third project phase emphasises the relevance of the project proposals to Kenya's national PFM Reform strategy 2013-18 and KRA's 5th, 6th & 7th corporate plans (STA-KRA, n.d.(b), p.4). According to Interviewee 5, this has been a critically important factor to the overall project outcomes:

"[...] if you should have one factor for a successful project that it has to have the support and it has to be in line with their overall strategies, the direction they want to go. Our capacity building needs to support that" (Interviewee 5).

However, one difference between the projects can be noted regarding the engagement of the top management of the respective Kenyan agencies in clarifying the needs and priorities for their agency and how the projects can address them best. As Interviewee 3 stated in the quote above, KNBS' director general was strongly involved in highlighting his vision and priorities for the agency. In contrast, the project-internal evaluation report for phase 2 of the KRA-STA cooperation reflects upon the lack of clarification between the STA team and KRA's top management about their expectations for the project, as well as their preferences in type of support (STA-KRA, n.d.(a), p.39). This can be understood as a missed opportunity for collaborative problem construction which led to misunderstandings regarding the subsequent project design and implemented activities. For instance, the report states further that KRA expected STA to "provide complete guidelines, processes, procedures and IT support, rather than capacity building activities" (Ibid., p.40). Thus, from KRA's perspectives, such mismatches arguably reduced the relevance of the implemented activities.

7.2.2 Project Design based on Holistic Conceptualisations of the Problem and Context The project design constitutes the core element of a project, which ties together the targeted problem with the fundamental theory of change and specifies the problem areas, which will be addressed by the project. As such, it needs to translate the identified problem into a comprehensive and actionable implementation plan, which balances various needs and priorities of stakeholders, as well as questions about the availability of resources and capacities, all the while maintaining the core principles of contextual sensitivity and local ownership of the project. The projects have managed this balancing act to produce effective and efficient research designs due to four practices.

First, both projects composed their project structure and components based on a holistic and systemic understanding of their respective targeted problem and potential risks associated to the project. In other words, the components which constitute each project, indicate that the project activities were designed to address bottlenecks and pitfalls from various angles which might contribute to the identified problem. This corresponds with the concept of problem deconstruction, as it is presented in PDIA. By doing so, the project teams have been able to detect interdependencies between different phenomena in their respective partner agency, which subsequently informed their component selections. Thus, the projects have been able to address each area more effectively, since they could leverage synergies between their components, and increase their levels of impact and sustainability of their results.

To turn to the SCB-KNBS cooperation first, whilst the initial goal was to develop KNBS' capacity to produce the specified types of statistics, SCB's project team concluded that the effective production of high-quality statistical data is premised by a sufficiently stable and functional organisational structure, which KNBS did not sufficiently provide (Interviewee 2; Interviewee 3). For this reason, the decision was made to include a component for organisational development support (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020, p.23; SCB-KNBS, n.d., p.5). One interviewee summarised the decision as follows:

"The production of statistics is dependent on having an organisation that supports it. So, one thing can't be had without the other. [...] We saw the planning system was really, really bad at KNBS, which means that you're not utilising the scarce resources that you have in the best way. And that's monetary, but it also informs personnel. So, you could have that all surveys are coming at the same time, you know. And then everyone wants everyone on board on their surveys. So, it becomes an internal fight between resources. And you get these big humps and where you need a lot of resources. And then it goes down way where you have no resources [...] and people sit idle basically. So, what we want to do is [...] to flatten the line, so you use the resources in the best way. Making more efficient use of resources. So, that's sort of the hard planning fact" (Interviewee 2).

Similarly, the KRA-STA cooperation also combined one component about the substantial work of a taxation agency (DWBI) with two components on general organisational development (risk

management & change management). As such, the project design aimed to address various problem areas which were understood as mitigating factors to the functionality and efficiency of KRA as a taxation agency in terms of encouraging tax compliance and delivering excellent services to its customers (STA-KRA, n.d.(a), pp.11-12; Moran et al., 2019, p.2).

Second, when it comes to the selection of components and activities, the consideration of available capacities and resources at the recipient agency seems to have been a critical factor, which explains why certain components were implemented effectively and efficiently, while other components remained unrealised. It is crucial for the departments which are involved in certain project activities to be able to internalise the developed skills and resources, so that they can utilise them independently and purposively. This effect is highlighted well by the effective implementation of KNBS-SCB's sub-components on CD in economic and gender statistics. Interviewee 2 explains these successes with that "there were sufficient resources at KNBS to absorb capacity development. And I think that is something that is really important - that you have a counterpart that can absorb the capacity development."

Both projects provide counterfactual indications which support this argument. When discussing the tendency of over-budgeting in the KRA-STA cooperation within its first four years, Moran et al. (2019) interpret this trend as overestimation of KRA's potential to absorb the capacity developed under these components (p.29). As a result, it can be assumed that the components were less effective and efficient than expected throughout this period. The sub-components on agricultural and environmental statistics are arguably the most poignant counterfactuals to the argument above. In the context of the former the National Seasonal Survey, which was designed during phase 1, has never been implemented in phase 2 contrary to what was planned due to a lack of funding from the GoK (van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020, p.29; Interviewee 2). Similarly, the developed compendium for environmental statistics has not been published, the reason arguably being limited personnel resources in the responsible department at KNBS (Interviewee 3; Interviewee 2).

Third, both projects successfully harmonised the priorities and expectations of the implementing agency (SCB/STA), the recipient agency (KNBS/KRA), the GoK, and Sida as the funding organisation, which represented the main stakeholders to the project. This benefitted the extent to which the projects could be implemented effectively and efficiently, as Interviewee 5 emphasised: "[...] it is easier for us to help when [KRA] have the same agenda [as we have]." Thus, the development of the project design required clear and effective

communication between the involved parties. When contact was first established between KRA and STA, the former initially requested support in the form of procurement of the data warehouse from STA and Sida. Both organisations, however, do not commonly engage in procurement assistance, which necessitated a careful dialogue to reach the eventual compromise. The agreement stipulated that a data warehouse would be procured through the financing of Danida, the GoK, and Sida, whilst STA's support would focus on CD concerning the use of the former (Moran et al., 2019, pp.9-10).

Forth, a particular dimension of managing expectations is how to handle prevailing incentive structures within the local partner agency, as SCB's experience exemplifies. This corresponds with what is referred to as managing the authorising environment in PDIA. A widespread issue to development cooperation in Kenya is the common practice of paying out daily allowances (per diems) to civil servants working in the field. Therefore, development partners, too, are expected to schedule field missions and provide per diems at times, when implementing their projects. As the following quote illustrates, SCB was aware of this risk and therefore addressed the issue through direct measures:

"We have a third-party agreement [...] between Statistics Sweden, Sida, the Swedish Embassy and KNBS but also KNBS and Statistics Sweden. And there, we were really clear [that] if we go anywhere, Statistics Sweden will not pay any per diem rate. In this case in Kenya, then [KNBS] have to pay that amount themselves" (Interviewee 3).

7.2.3 Pursuing an Adaptive and Responsive Strategy for Project Implementation

The core arguments put forth by PDIA's concept of experimental iteration is that projects are more successful in terms of relevance, impact, and effectiveness, when they remain adaptive, flexible, and responsive to contextual trends throughout their implementation. Whilst the projects did not apply this approach as such, their implementation strategies showcased similar characteristics during their first two project phases. In the case of the SCB-KNBS cooperation, SCB's project team adopted an adaptive implementation strategy following the mid-term review written by Andersson and Anger (2017). That is, the project team started to adjust activities and priorities to changes in the context of the project (Interviewee 1).

Similarly, STA's project team increasingly embraced a flexible implementation strategy over time, whereby activities were being selected and adjusted to KRA's short-term needs.

Practically, this was substantiated by the closer involvement of KRA staff in the planning of activities (Moran et al., 2019, p.11).

One of the benefits of an adaptive approach was touched upon by Interviewees from each project:

"[The context] changed all the time. [...] It changes, so it's difficult to say that [the project plan] was wrong at that time, when it was planned" (Interviewee 3 about the KNBS-SCB cooperation).

"We try to change and adapt all along, even if a project proposal says... it describes what we think when we write the project proposal. We are trying to adjust that on what we learn during the time we work with them" (Interviewee 5 about the KRA-STA cooperation).

This implies that any initially planned components and activities were conceived and motivated by the circumstantial information which was available to the project team at that time. However, by the time the project was to be implemented, the initial circumstances might have changed, thereby rendering the project plan redundant to the newly emerging contextual reality, as hypothesised by the concept experimental iteration. For instance, as already mentioned, the National Seasonal Survey, which was part of the sub-component on agricultural statistics in the KNBS-SCB cooperation, was never carried out due to a lack of funding from the GoK. In the face of this issue, the project team decided to develop the capacity of KNBS' department for agricultural statistics to produce agricultural statistics by using specific data from the Household Budget Survey. As a result, the department was able to produce statistical data for the first time in KNBS' history (Interviewee 2).

The KRA-STA cooperation recorded a similar experience related to their CD support related to the data warehouse. The procurement of the warehouse, which was provided by a separate project, experienced repeated delays, which constrained the initial plan of KRA-STA's DWBI component. Instead, the project team focused DWBI-related activities on the development of preparatory capacity to aid future efforts at implementing the data warehouse (Moran et al., 2019, pp.20-21).

On the other hand, by maintaining contextual sensitivity and a willingness to adapt, unforeseen opportunities for project components and activities could manifest, which benefitted the overall impact and relevance of the project. For instance, STA implemented 17, instead of the planned

13, activities under the corporate risk management sub-component, which seems to indicate that this was prioritised by KRA (Moran et al., 2019, p.13).

The inclusion of the activity area on rebasing KNBS' national accounts followed a similar pattern, as Interviewee 1 highlighted:

"[...] we added the rebasing of the national accounts as an output in the project which was not there from the beginning because we saw that there was a good opportunity. They were going to do this anyway. We had a really good expert and we saw that [...] the prospect for achieving good results was there. So, then we took that in" (Interviewee 1).

The evidence above accentuates the value which an adaptive implementation strategy yielded to the analysed projects. Beyond that, the empirical material suggests further that there were several key aspects which have determined the extent to which the project teams were successful in employing this strategy.

To begin with, the projects benefitted from having a long-term engagement and perspective. In both cases, the notion is emphasised that institutional development, as practiced by the projects, requires a long timeframe to fully unfold and manifest. This contributes to the effectiveness of the project, as well as the sustainability of the produced results (Andersson & Anger, 2017, p.7; STA-KRA, n.d.(b), p.7; Interviewee 2; Interviewee 4).

Second, the resident LTAs stationed in Kenya have had central enabling functions for the adaptive strategies. One essential premise for working adaptively and flexibly is that contextual information about the performance of the project and its surrounding is collected and synthesised on a continuous basis. Furthermore, once a decision for adaptation has been made, it needs to be enacted effectively within the project locus. The role of the LTAs placed them at the nexus of this inflow of information and outflow of adaptive decisions. Their role was recognised by Interviewees from each project:

"[...] having a long-term advisor on the on the ground there to pick up all those things, supports a lot of our implementation in our corporations. Then we can make sure that we can actually adapt to new situations quite fast" (Interviewee 3).

"[...] we choose almost always to have a long-term expert in the country. And that is also to be closer to the country, to build relationships, to have someone that has a bigger chance of

really understanding the context and the culture. And the long-term experts are always the ones that are coordinating the short-term missions [...]" (Interviewee 5).

Third, the funding organisations in theory have considerable leverage over the decisions and design of projects, as they could choose to only finance projects they favour. However, as argued by PDIA's authorising environment management, and adaptive approach requires the funding partner to be accepting or even endorsing of adaptations and consistent and resilient in its support, even in the face of short-term failures and misplaced resources. The interviewees indicated that Sida's support to both projects fitted this description and, thus, enabled an adaptive implementation strategy (Interviewee 1; Interviewee 3; Interviewee 5).

Forth, ad hoc adaptations to the project design pose a particular risk to the local ownership of the project if local stakeholders are excluded. Therefore, several instruments of frequent consultation between the main project stakeholders were established. At the highest level, the Project Steering Committees evaluated the progress of the project at large, monitored possible risks, and initiated adjustments to the project design (SCB-KNBS, 2018, p.19; STA-KRA, n.d.(a), p.39). Additionally, the KRA-STA cooperation included monthly meetings between the LTA, the KRA contact person and the component leaders to share information about the progress (STA-KRA, n.d.(a), p.35), as well as frequent meetings between LTA and the KRA contact person, separately, to discuss progress of project and planning of upcoming activities (Ibid., p.39). As such, it can be argued that both projects employed a convening and connecting strategy of stakeholder engagement, as the project team facilitated stakeholder dialogues.

Lastly, to maintain the stringency and effectiveness of the project, it is important to always consider any adaptation against the overall goals and objectives of the project. Otherwise, the ad hoc activities fail to align in purpose and to contribute a common goal (Interviewee 3; Interviewee 5).

8. Concluding Discussion

Development practice is a highly debated subject matter with suggestions for ideal approaches, principles and "ways of working" from various sources. This also applies to the field of TA in the context of governance and public sector issues. Within this field, the debates have arguably evolved into a new stage with the emergence of the DDD agenda and its associated theories and

approaches, such as PDIA, TWP and Adaptive Management. However, the empirical evidence base on what determines the quality of outcomes which a TA project with public sector organisations produces is still considerably slim and diffuse.

Considering this background, this study aimed to contribute to the empirical evidence by asking which factors can be associated to successful project outcomes in two Swedish TA projects implemented at Kenyan government agencies between 2010 and 2020. The chosen projects were between KNBS and SCB, and between KRA and STA, respectively.

Overall, both projects contributed to far reaching change within the performances and organisational processes of their respective recipient agencies. This is also reflected in the evaluations of the projects based on OECD DAC's criteria, with both projects reaching high levels for each outcome dimension and only selective areas of shortcomings and failure. Considering these performances, one should note that this has important ramifications for the validity of the results, as there is no firmly established counterfactual to substantiate the former. Thus, most results are based on congruencies between the project, except for certain findings, where meaningful differences were present.

Three main propositions were made to outline factors which have contributed to successful project outcomes. First, both projects engaged in collaborative processes of demand-driven, and context-sensitive problem definition, in line with the concept of problem construction. There are clear indications that the project teams showcased contextual sensitivity and designed the projects to reflect local demands. Practically, this was done by committing to an extensive inception process which included broad stakeholder engagement, collaborative problem construction and the active consideration of the strategic agenda set out by the respective Kenyan agency.

Second, the project designs were based on a holistic conceptualisation of the targeted problem and its root causes, reflection a practice of problem deconstruction. Thereby, four factors were found to be outstanding. Both projects addressed their targeted problems by synergistically addressing various root causes. More specifically, besides components about the particular field of practice of KRA and KNBS, the projects provided extensive support to organisational processes. Furthermore, components were more successful when they supported departments in the recipient organisation with sufficient capacity and resources to absorb the developed skills and capacity. Third, the project designs harmonised the priorities of the major stakeholders through effective and clear communication. And lastly, it was beneficial to proactively address incentive structures.

Third, both projects became more successful concerning their relevance, impact, and effectiveness, once they employed an adaptive and contextually responsive strategy for project implementation, similar to PDIA's concept of experimental iteration. This enabled the project team to instate corrective measures in cases of contextual changes or when the progress was stagnant. Furthermore, they could identify and seize emerging opportunities for effective components or activities. Five factors might have contributed to the effective use of an adaptive implementation strategy: having a long-term project engagement; stationing a resident LTA in Kenya; receiving flexible support from Sida, which leaves room for the project team to make short-term adjustments; formalising local ownership in the project design; and ensuring continuous alignment of project objectives and activities.

By and large, the results of this study support the conclusions of previous studies (see section 3). However, most studies consider the factors separately, with little attention for their interdependencies and synergies. Hence, this study contributes to our understanding of the mechanisms through which some frequently highlighted factors affect project outcomes synergistically and, thus, represents a modest attempt at responding to Hudson and Marquette's (2015) call for more research on the linkages through which factors are interrelated.

Lastly, some critical reflections on the results are warranted. First, it should be noted that the results should not be understood as a test of PDIA as an approach to providing TA to the public sector. However, given the congruencies between some elements of the analysed projects and key concepts of PDIA, it possible to conclude that this study yields support to the fundamental logic of the approach.

Second, the two analysed projects were following the logic of CD, as opposed to the static transfer of technology, skills, and knowledge. Some of the central debates in the contemporary discourse on public sector development assistance is concerning the "temptation of the technical". Whilst the results of this study suggest that one factor which contributed to the overall success of the projects was their holistic design, which included interventions in organisational structures and processes, this should not be read as a test in line with this debate, since this study makes no comparison between two "opposing" cases in this regard. It might be fruitful for future research to further scrutinise this issue, as also recognised by Andrews (2013).

Thus, future research should further investigate the proposed mechanisms by establishing robust counterfactuals in a comparative case study design. Several lines of comparisons are possible here, as the discussion above indicates.

9. References

Allen, R., G. Ferrari, K. Loshi, N. Östlund, D. Razic['] Ilic['], Institution Building in Practice: An Evaluation of Swedish Central Authorities' Reform Cooperation in the Western Balkans, EBA Report 2020:04, Expert Group for Aid Studies (EBA), Sweden.

Andersson, J. & Anger, J. (2017) *Mid-Term Review of Statistical Cooperation Project KNBS/SCB*, Final Report, Niras indevelop.

Andrews, M. (2013) *Explaining positive deviance in public sector reforms in development*, CID Working Paper No.267, Center for International Development at Harvard University, Cambridge.

Andrews, M., Pritchett, L. & Woolcock, M. (2017) *Building State Capability: Evidence, Analysis, Action.* 1st edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Balaboniené, I. & Večerskienė, G. (2015) "The Aspects of Performance Measurement in PublicSector Organization", *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 213: p.314-320.

Bayiley, Y.T. & Teklu, G.K. (2016) "Success factors and criteria in the management of international development projects: Evidence from projects funded by the European Union in Ethiopia", *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 9(3): pp.562-582. DOI 10.1108/IJMPB-06-2015-0046

Bazbauers, A.D. (2017) "World bank Technical Assistance: The Relational Dynamic of Policy Movement", *Public Administration and Development*, 37: pp.246-259. DOI: 10.1002/pad.1796.

Booth, D. & Unsworth, S. (2014) *Politically smart, locally led development*, Discussion Paper, ODI, London.

Carneiro, G., Boman, K, Woel, B. & Nylund, A. (2015) *Support to Capacity Development* – *Identifying Good Practice in Swedish Development Cooperation*, Sida Evaluation 2015:2, Sida.

Carothers, T. & de Gramont, D. (2011) *Aiding Governance in Developing Countries*: *Progress Amid Uncertainties*, Democracy and Rule of Law Program, The Carnegie Papers, Washington D.C.

Cox, M. & Norrington-Davies, G. (2019) *Technical assistance: New Thinking on an old problem*, Report, Agulhas Applied Knowledge.

Davison, A., Mercer, M., Poole, A. & Gardener, J. (2014) *Evaluation of the Technical Assistance Component of DFID India's Education Portfolio – Main Report*, Final Report, ICF Consulting Services Limited, London.

DDD Manifesto (2014) *The DDD Manifesto* [online]. Available at: https://buildingstatecapability.com/the-ddd-manifesto/ (Accessed: 19.05.2022)

Denney, L., Mallett, R. & Benson, M. S. (2017) *Service delivery and state capacity: findings from the Secure Livelihoods Research Consortium*, Secure Livelihoods Research Consortium, London.

Embassy of the Republic of Kenya in Japan (EKJ) (2022) *The Government and the Political System* [online]. Available at: <u>http://www.kenyarep-jp.com/kenya/government_e.html</u> (Accessed: 16.05.2022)

Freedom House (2022) *Freedom in the World: Kenya* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://freedomhouse.org/country/kenya/freedom-world/2020</u> (Accessed: 16.05.2022)

Goodrick, D. (2014). *Comparative Case Studies*, Methodological Briefs: Impact Evaluation 9, UNICEF Office of Research, Florence.

Greenhill, R., Watt, P., Griffiths, J. & Burnley, J. (2006) *RealAid: Making Technical Assistance Work*, RealAid 2, ActionAid International, Johannesburg.

Hudson, D & Marquette, H. (2015). 'Mind the Gaps: What's Missing in Political Economy Analysis and Why it Matters' in A Governance Practitioner's Notebook: Alternative Ideas and Approaches, OECD. Available at: <u>https://www.oecd.org/dac/accountable-effective-</u> institutions/governance-practitioners-notebook.htm (Accessed: 17.05.2022)

International Monetary Fund (IMF) (2021) *IMF Capacity Development* [online]. Available at: https://www.imf.org/en/About/Factsheets/imf-capacity-development (Accessed: 21.05.2022)

Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A. & Mastruzzi, M. (2010). *The Worldwide Governance Indicators: Methodology and Analytical Issues*, World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 5430. Available at: <u>http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1682130</u> (Accessed: 14.05.2022)

Kenya Vision 2030 (2022) *About Vision 2030* [online]. Available at: <u>https://vision2030.go.ke/about-vision-2030/</u> (accessed: 15.05.2022)

Khang, D.B. & Moe, T.L. (2008) "Success Criteria and Factors for International Development Projects: A Life-Cycle-Based Framework", *Project Management Journal*, 39(1): pp.72-84. DOI: 10.1002/pmj

Lawson, A., Hegarty, J., Harris, J., Folscher, A., de Toledo, G.A. (2020) *Interim Evaluation* of the CABRI Building PFM Capabilities programme applying PDIA techniques to PFM problems in African Countries, Draft Report, Fiscus Public Finance Consultants, Oxford.

McLennan, S. & Prinsen, G. (2014) "Something Old, Something New: Research Using Archives, Texts and Virtual Data" in Scheyvens, R. (ed.) *Development Fieldwork: A Practical Guide*. 2nd Edition. London: SAGE Publications Ltd., pp.81-100.

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Sweden (MFAS) (n.d.(a)) *Strategy for development cooperation with Kenya: January 2009 – December 2013*, Memorandum, Ministry for Foreign Affairs Sweden, Stockholm.

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Sweden (MFAS) (n.d.(b)) *Strategy for Sweden's development cooperation with Kenya: 2016–2020*, Memorandum, Ministry for Foreign Affairs Sweden, Stockholm.

Moran, G., Jansson, A. & Ranguma, J (2019) *Evaluation of the Sida-supported development cooperation with the Kenya Revenue Authority*, Sda Decentralised Evaluation 2019:26, Sida.

Nastase, A., Rajan, A., French, B. & Bhattacharya, D. (2020) "Towards reimagined technical assistance: the current policy options and opportunities for change", *Gates Open Research*,

4:180 [online]. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.12688/gatesopenres.13204.1</u> (Accessed: 08.04.2022)

Nastase, A., Rajan, A., French, B. & Bhattacharya, D. (2021) "Technical assistance: a practical account of the challenges in design and implementation", *Gates Open Research*, 4:177 [online]. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.12688/gatesopenres.13205.2</u> (Accessed: 31.03.2022)

Ofori, D.F. (2013) "Project Management Practices and Critical Success Factors–A Developing Country Perspective", *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(21): pp.14-31. DOI: 10.5539/ijbm.v8n21p14

Open Aid (2022a) *Swe Tax Agency - Kenya Revenue Auth* [online]. Available at: <u>https://openaid.se/en/activities/SE-0-SE-6-5111007701-KEN-15114</u> (Accessed: 15.05.2022)

Open Aid (2022b) *Statistics Support-KNBS* [online]. Available at: https://openaid.se/en/activities/SE-0-SE-6-5111006301-KEN-16062 (Accessed: 15.05.2022)

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2011) *The Enabling Environment for Capacity Development*, Perspectives Note, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. Available at: <u>https://www.oecd.org/development/accountable-</u> <u>effective-institutions/48315248.pdf</u> (Accessed: 09.05.2022)

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2020) *Aid by DAC members increases in 2019 with more aid to the poorest countries*, ODA Detailed Summary, OECD. Available at: <u>https://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-</u> <u>development/development-finance-data/ODA-2019-detailed-summary.pdf</u> (Accessed: 22.05.2022)

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development - Development Assistance Committee (OECD DAC) (2022a) *Evaluation Criteria* [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.oecd.org/dac/evaluation/daccriteriaforevaluatingdevelopmentassistance.htm</u> (Accessed: 09.05.2022)

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development - Development Assistance Committee (OECD DAC) (2022b) *Top Ten Donors of Gross ODA for Kenya, 2018-2019 average, USD million* [online]. Available at:

https://public.tableau.com/views/OECDDACAidataglancebyrecipient_new/Recipients?:embe d=y&:display_count=yes&:showTabs=y&:toolbar=no?&:showVizHome=no (accessed: 14.05.2022)

Piron, L.-H., Cummings, C., Williams, G., Derbyshire, H. and Hadley, S. (2021) *Twenty years of UK Governance Programmes in Nigeria: Achievements, challenges, lessons and implications for future support*, ODI report, ODI, London. Available at: <u>https://odi.org/en/publications/twenty-years-of-uk-governance-programmes-in-nigeria-achievements-challenges-lessons-and-implications-for-future-support/</u> (Accessed: 06.05.2022)

Prydz, E.B. & Wadhwa, D. (2019) *Classifying countries by income* [online]. Available at: <u>https://datatopics.worldbank.org/world-development-indicators/stories/the-classification-of-</u> countries-by-income.html (Accessed: 15.05.2022) Punch, K.F. (2005) *Introduction to social research: quantitative and qualitative approaches*. 2^{nd} edn. London: SAGE.

Robson, C. & McCartan, K. (2016). *Real World Research. A Resource for Users of Social Research Methods in Applied Settings*. 4th ed., Chichester: Wiley.

SCB-KNBS. (2018) Swedish support to statistics development at Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS), Extension Proposal May 2019-April 2021.

SCB-KNBS. (n.d.(b)) *Statistical Cooperation Project between the Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS) and Statistics Sweden*, Final Report Phase 1.

Sweden Abroad (2022) Sweden & Kenya: *Development and aid* [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.swedenabroad.se/en/about-sweden-non-swedish-citizens/kenya/development-and-aid/</u> (Accessed: 17.05.2022)

Temenos, C. & McCann, E. (2013) "Geographies of Policy Mobilities", *Geography Compass*, 7(5): pp.344-357. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gec3.12063</u> (Accessed: 13.05.2022)

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) (2022) UNDP and capacity development [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.undp-capacitydevelopment-health.org/en/about-us/capacity-</u>

development/#:~:text=UNDP%20defines%20capacity%20development%20as,own%20devel
opment%20objectives%20over%20time. (Accessed: 13.05.2022)

van Gerwen, F. & Madaya, N. (2021) *Evaluation of Cooperation between Kenya National Bureau of Statistics and Statistics Sweden since 2014*, Sida Decentralised Evaluation 2021:4, Sida.

Varieties of Democracy (V-Dem) (2022) *Liberal Democracy Index* [online]. Available at: https://www.v-dem.net/data_analysis/VariableGraph/ (Accessed: 16.05.2022)

Wigboldus, S., van der Lee, J., Brouwer, H. & Hijweege, W. (2011) *Critical success factors in capacity development support: An exploration in the context of international cooperation*, Project Report, Centre for Development Innovation, Wageningen.

World Bank (WB) (1994) *Technical Assistance* [online]. Available at: <u>http://web.worldbank.org/archive/website00530/WEB/OTHER/A5CE2C-</u> <u>2.HTM?OpenDocument#:~:text=%22Bank%22%20includes%20IBRD%20and%20IDA,capa</u> <u>city%20on%20a%20sustainable%20basis</u>. (Accessed: 13.05.2022)

World Bank (WB) (2022) *World Bank Country and Lending Groups* [online]. Available at: https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519 (accessed: 15.05.2022)

World Bank Databank (2022a) *World Development Indicators* [online]. Available at: <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/reports.aspx?source=2&series=DT.ODA.ALLD.CD&country</u> <u>=KEN#</u> (Accessed: 14.05.2022)

World Bank Databank (2022b) *Worldwide Governance Indicators* [online]. Available at: <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/source/worldwide-governance-indicators</u> (Accessed: 14.05.2022)

Worldwide Governance Indicators (WGI) (2022) *Worldwide Governance Indicators* [online]. Available at: <u>http://info.worldbank.org/governance/wgi/</u> (Accessed: 16.05.2022)

Appendix A: List of Interviewees

Table A1: List of Interviewees

Cooperation between SCB Statistics Sweden and KNBS	Date of Interview(s)
Interviewee 1	31.03.2022
Interviewee 2	31.03.2022; 22.04.2022
Interviewee 3	07.04.2022
Cooperation between KRA and STA	Date of Interview(s)
Interviewee 4	11.04.2022
Interviewee 5	28.04.2022

Appendix B: Interview Guide

General Record		
Date & Time:		
Location:		
Interviewer:	Lennart Weitzel	
Present interviewees:		
Associated Project/Programme:		
Recording Method:		

Note: Henceforth, whenever it is being referred to a project, both projects and programmes are implied.

1. Initiation of the Interview:

1.1. Introduction of interviewer: Lennart Weitzel

1.2. Introduction of the research project

- 1.2.1. What are the research questions? What is its aim?
- 1.2.2. What is the origin of the research project?
- 1.2.3. What is the purpose of the interview?

1.3. Do you permit me to record the audio of the interview?

1.4. Introduction of the interviewee

- 1.4.1. Who is the interviewee and what is/was her/his role in the project?
- 1.4.2. Do(es) the interviewee(s) have any initial questions?

2. Project Design:

2.1. Project Purpose and Goals

- 2.1.1. What was (were) the overall goal(s) of the project?
- 2.1.2. What was (were) the identified problem(s)?
- 2.1.3. How was the process of problem definition structured? Who was involved?
- 2.1.4. How did you assess the situation in the context of implementation?
- 2.1.5. Retrospectively, do you identify some problems with the goal(s) and problem definition of the project?
- 2.1.6. To what extent was the project design appropriate for the identified problem?

2.2. Strategies and Approaches underlying the Project Design

- 2.2.1. How was the preparation period structured?
- 2.2.2. Who was responsible for and involved in the design process of the project?
- 2.2.3. What was the Theory of Change of the project defined?
- 2.2.4. What were the key assumptions underlying the project design?
- 2.2.5. Which factors influenced the choices in project design?

2.3. Project Funding & Available Resources

- **2.3.1.** What was the condition of funding for the project?
- **2.3.2.** Did you find any useful resources already in place in the context of implementation? If so, how did you make use of/work with these resources?

3. Internal and External Collaboration and Coordination:

3.1. Internal Project Team Structure

- 3.1.1. How did the project team collaborate internally?
- **3.1.2.** Was there a formal structure or hierarchy in place?
- **3.1.3.** How did the project team communicate internally?
- 3.1.4. Which factors and practices helped improve the internal collaboration?
- 3.1.5. What challenges did the project face in internal collaboration?

3.2. Collaboration and Coordination with External Partners

- **3.2.1.** Which external organisations and partners (from the public sector) were involved in the project?
- **3.2.2.** How did the project team communicate with external partners and stakeholders? Example: other donors with similar projects
- **3.2.3.** Which factors helped in collaborating with external partners?
- 3.2.4. What challenges did the project face in these partnerships?

4. Project Implementation:

4.1. Activities and Interventions implemented during the Project

- 4.1.1. What activities/interventions were planned under the framework of the project?
- 4.1.2. Which activities/interventions were eventually realised?
- 4.1.3. Who was the responsible agent for each activity?
- 4.1.4. How did you intend to assure the sustainability of the outcomes?
- **4.1.5.** To what extent you think were the activities/interventions interlinked and harmonised?

4.2. Project Outputs and Outcomes

- 4.2.1. What outputs has the activities achieved?
- **4.2.2.** What changes to communities, society, economy, and/or overall quality of government (i.e., outcomes) has the project achieved?
- 4.2.3. Which outputs have contributed to each outcome, respectively?

4.3. Contribution Analysis

- 4.3.1. Which project outcomes do you consider most relevant/important?
- **4.3.2.** Has there been evidence of change in the targeted context, which can be related to the project output(s)?
- **4.3.3.** To what extent are the outcomes/achievements likely to last/be sustained within the context of implementation?

4.4. Outcome Evaluation: Factors which contributed to Outcome Successes

- **4.4.1.** In your opinion, which aspects of the project design and activity plan contributed positively to the outcomes of the project?
- 4.4.2. How did these aspects contribute positively to the outcome of the project?

4.5. Challenges and Problems during Implementation

- 4.5.1. Did the project encounter any major challenges or problems during the implementation?
- 4.5.2. How did the team try to deal with these challenges/problems?
- 4.5.3. What were the outcomes of these corrective efforts?

5. Contextual Influences:

5.1. Influence of External Factors

- 5.1.1. Which external factors have influenced the project design and designing process?
- 5.1.2. How did these factors influence the project design?

5.2. Changes in External Circumstances

5.2.1. Were there any key external events or developments which required changes or adaptations to the project design and implementation?

Category	Cooperation between KNBS and SCB Statistics Sweden	Cooperation Programme between KRA and STA	
Implementing	SCB Statistics Sweden	Swedish Taxation Agency (STA)	
Organisation:			
Receiving	Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS)	Kenya Revenue Authority (KRA)	
Organisation:			
Funders:	Swedish International Development Agency (Sida)	Swedish International Development Agency (Sida)	
Project Team	One project manager and one administrator at SCB's office in Stockholm;	One Project Manager (STA) operating from Stockholm;	
Structure:	One Long-term Advisor active in Nairobi;	One Long-term Advisor;	
	Short-term Advisors from SCB, the private sector, and the Swedish University of	Component Leaders (unclear number);	
Location.	Nairobi, Kenya	Nairobi Kenya	
Timefrome:	Preparatory Phase: 2014	2014-2019	
I mien ame.	Phase 1: 2015-2018	Phase 1: 2014-2016	
	Phase 2: 2019-2021	Phase 2: 2017-2019	
Budget Size:	Phase 1: 34 million SEK	Phase 1: 21 million SEK	
	Phase 2: 18 million SEK	Phase 2: 23.7 million SEK	
Goals and	1. Component: Thematic Statistics Support	1. Component: Risk Management	
Objectives:	 Economic Statistics: Coverage and quality of structural and short-term statistics (developing the Business Expectations Enquiry (BEE) to the Quarterly Business Indicator (QBI) survey); the Business Register; Scope and compilation of price statistics (Consumer Price Index (CPI) and Producer Price Index (PPI)); National Accounts in line with international standards; Labour statistics; Survey methodology training (using SCB's STAC (Statistics in Action) courses) (Phase 2). Agricultural Statistics: Quality of agricultural statistics; Development of a sampling frame for agriculture statistics with the intention to expand the range of agricultural indicators; national seasonal survey (as an alternative to a full-scale agricultural census during Phase 2). Environmental Statistics (discontinued after Phase 1): Increase range and timeliness in environment statistics produced; increased collaboration in area of environment statistics and awareness among stakeholders. 	 Objective: Risk-based decision-making applied that supports improved effectiveness in revenue collection initiatives; effective use of scarce resources through elimination of duplication and strategic resources allocated to high-risk areas; coordinated Risk and Business Continuity Management at corporate level and consistency in tax compliance Risk Management strategies. Sub-components: Corporate Risk Management Tax Compliance Risk Management Tax Compliance Risk Management Component: Change Management Effective tax administration through enhanced customer focus and improved compliance of KRA staff with the KRA vision, core values and mission. 	

Appendix C: Summary Table of the analysed TA Projects

	Gender Statistics:	3. Component: Support to Data Warehouse & Business Intelligence System
	 Improve dissemination of gender statistics (prepare the 'women and men in Kenya' publication); increase awareness of gender statistics and use of gender aspects in decision-making (support to the Gender Statistics Technical Committee); Time Use Survey (TUS) to measure differences in time spent by men and women on unpaid care and domestic work (Phase 1) 	 Definition "DWBI": "a central repository for selected transaction data from various operational systems" (STA-KRA, 2019, p.12); A functional Data Warehouse in place, providing a single view of the taxpayers, supporting a risk-based decision-making tax compliance approach. Procurement was done by Danida, GoK, and Sida.
	 Component: Organisational Development Support Management and strategic planning: Development of a clear and defined communications function at KNBS; user-friendly dissemination practices; coordination and donor coordination mechanisms; human resources planning.	
	 Methodology, staff development and trainees: Increase capacity of staff in basic and advanced statistical methodology; Improve quality of published official statistics; Improve quality and security of geo-databases. 	
	 ICT and systems development: Setting up a domain network; Setting up a structured storage solution; Introduction of a Web-based dissemination tool; Training of KNBS ICT staff. 	
Sources:	van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020; SCB-KNBS, 2018; SCB-KNBS, n.d.(b)	STA-KRA, n.d.(a); Moran et al., 2019; STA-KRA, n.d.(b)

Outcome Dimension	Cooperation KNBS-SCB	Cooperation KRA-STA
Relevance	High relevance, indicated by project alignment with KNBS' strategic plans for 2013-2020, GoK's policies, and Sida's policies; KNBS staff and management acknowledged project relevance.	High relevance, indicated by project alignment with KRA's 5 th -7 th Corporate Plans, GoK's policies, and MFAS's Kenya Strategies 2009-2013 and 2016-2020.
Effectiveness	Largely effective; nearly complete achievements of objectives, apart from the working areas environmental and agricultural statistics, and ICT support; during phase 1, out of the 94 project targets, two target were partially, and four targets were not achieved	Largely effective, as 95 out of 111 activities were implemented as planned; achievements of objectives in Change Management and Risk Management component; considerable achievements of adjusted objectives for DWBI component.
Efficiency	Overall good efficiency with some possibilities for improvement; modest budgeting with good depletion rate, indicating good implementation and absorption capacity of KNBS.	Decent efficiency; project costs are justified by the results; initial over-estimation of KRA's absorption capacity, as indicated by over-budgeting, which was adjusted for by 2018-2019.
Impact	Great impact on internal organisational performance and capacity; improvement of KNBS' performance in planning and management of statistical production; external stakeholders acknowledge KNBS to be a reliable and capable agency and source of statistical data; uncertainty about potential for KNBS statistics to be used by GoK in policy- and decision-making.	Impact on the internal working processes of KRA, e.g., through an enhanced customer focus and internalised and institutionalised risk management processes; unclear impact on KRA's overall purpose and mission; records of increased revenue collection, tax base, and tax compliance rate, although with unclear causal link to the project.
Sustainability	Good potential for the sustainability of results in statistical production; uncertainty about sustainability of organisational changes due to continuous staff shortages and limited county-level presence of KNBS.	Expectable sustainability of the hands-on produced outputs for individuals and institutionally; created new departments responsible for risk management and the data warehouse; available policies, strategies, plans and similar for future use; several threats to sustainability; unfinished procurement process of the data warehouse; apparent lack of project buy-in from KRA top management.
	van Gerwen & Madaya, 2020; SCB-KNBS, n.d.; Andersson & Anger, 2017: Interviewee 2	Moran et al., 2019; STA-KRA, n.d.(a); Interviewee 5

Appendix D: Summary of Project Outcomes





Figure E1: WGI – Control of Corruption, Kenya

Note: Control of Corruption captures perceptions of the extent to which public power is exercised for private gain, including both petty and grand forms of corruption, as well as "capture" of the state by elites and private interests. Adjusted scale to range from 0 to 5.



Figure E2: WGI – Government Effectiveness, Kenya

Note: Government Effectiveness captures perceptions of the quality of public services, the quality of the civil service and the degree of its independence from political pressures, the quality of policy formulation and implementation, and the credibility of the government's commitment to such policies. Adjusted scale to range from 0 to 5.



Figure E3: WGI – Regulatory Quality, Kenya

Note: Regulatory Quality captures perceptions of the ability of the government to formulate and implement sound policies and regulations that permit and promote private sector development. Adjusted scale to range from 0 to 5.

Data sources:

The data used for the construction of the Figures 1-3 in the Appendix E stems from the Worldwide Governance Indicators (WGI), which are produced by Daniel Kaufmann (Natural Resource Governance Institute and Brookings Institution) and Aart Kraay (World Bank Development Research Group) (Kaufmann et al., 2010). The WGI is described as "a research dataset summarizing the views on the quality of governance provided by a large number of enterprise, citizen and expert survey respondents in industrial and developing countries. These data are gathered from a number of survey institutes, think tanks, non-governmental organizations, international organizations, and private sector firms" (WGI, 2022). The dataset used for the presented graphs was retrieved from the World Bank Databank (World Bank Databank, 2022b).